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Almshouses are a charitable form of  
self-sufficient, low-cost community 
housing held in trust for local people in 
need of genuinely affordable housing.  
Established through philanthropy and 
managed and run by independent  

almshouse charities led by local, volunteer trustees. 
The oldest form of charitable housing, almshouses can 
trace their history back over a thousand years.  
Today, 36,000 people are living full and independent  
lives in almshouses, finding friendships, wellbeing and 
security inside their walls and within their communities. 
The Almshouse Association (previously known as the  
National Association of Almshouses) was established  
in 1946 by a group of passionate representatives from 
London’s almshouses who met up in the Chapter House 
of Southwark Cathedral and formed a committee to  
safeguard the interests of almshouse buildings and the 
welfare of residents.  
The objects of the Association were set and continue to 
form the cornerstones of our services today: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Today, The Almshouse Association supports, promotes, 
and represents over 1,600 independent almshouse  
charities. It guides on all aspects of almshouse  
management, supports member charities with the 
provision of up-to-date policies and governance  
advice, seminars and training, grants and loans and  
representation, as well as offering a single point of  
contact helpline. Through raising awareness, fundraising, 
donations and legacies, The Almshouse Association is 
working hard with almshouse charities, local authorities 
and the government alike, to make it possible for  
many more almshouses to be built to secure affordable 
housing for people in housing need today and for  
generations to come.

    l  promote the establishment, continuation, efficiency 
        and effectiveness of almshouse foundations 
    l  promote the provision, improvement, upkeep  
        and maintenance of almshouses and associated 
        services and facilities 
    l  support our members to protect, develop and deliver  
        homes for people in need of housing.
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the additional services needed to achieve these strategic 
ambitions by using the unrestricted reserves currently 
designated, but not yet used, and direct fundraising.  
 
As always, I would like to thank my fellow board  
members not only for channelling their energy and  
expertise to provide this focused five-year framework 
but for their continued support and engagement 
throughout the year. Since that day in November,  
the dedicated and committed staff team, under the  
diligent leadership of Chief Executive, Nick Phillips, has 
begun the process of implementing those aims. Our 
overarching guiding light is to showcase almshouses  
as the exemplary community-led housing model that 
began in the ninth century and continues to this day.  
 
The financial statements that follow show us in a  
strong financial position but in long-term need of  
unrestricted income if we are to meet our objectives.  
As planned, our expenditure in 2021 has exceeded  

CHAIR’S REVIEW

I am delighted to share with you another successful 
year during which, despite the pandemic and wider 
economic challenges, we have achieved our strategic 
targets, assisted more members and maintained a 
strong balance sheet. 
 
Seventy-five years ago, a small group of almshouse 
trustees, led by Leonard Hackett, came together to  
support almshouse charities who were finding  
post-war conditions difficult. The Government was 
pushing ahead with building houses, including social 
housing, but support for small charity housing providers 
was lacking. Trustees, being individual members of the  
community, were juggling the demands of charity 
trusteeship and the personal legacy that a world war 
had left them. They turned to each other for help and 
formed The Almshouse Association.  
 
Its purpose has not changed: to provide guidance and 
advice to trustees and to represent members when 
and where decisions were being made which would  
affect their duties and obligations as providers.  
Three-quarters of a century later there are nearly  
1,600 members representing 30,000 almshouses  
across England, Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland.  
A measurable and significant success. 
 
Some of the challenges faced all those years ago  
remain today. Almshouses occupy a special and  
unique space in the charity world, where much needed 
accommodation is held in trust for many future  
generations of eligible residents. A trustee’s duty of 
care is keenly felt. Throw into the mix historic buildings, 
and an older population with increasingly complex 
needs, and it is not surprising that a trustee of an 
almshouse charity can begin to feel the pressure. 
 
With this knowledge to hand, The Almshouse  
Association board members met in November for a  
day to review the strategic direction for the next few 
years. We identified four broad subject areas to  
concentrate on over the next five years which cover 
historic buildings and carbon neutral ambitions,  
prevention of almshouse charities reaching crisis point, 
trustee support (especially around advice, legislation 
and finances) and encouraging new benefactors to  
establish new almshouse charities. We intend to fund 

Welcome to the Annual Report for 
the 75th anniversary year of The Almshouse Association

Chair Elizabeth Fathi with HRH The Prince of Wales cutting an 
Almshouse Association 75th anniversary cake at 

Bond’s Hospital almshouses in Coventry in May 2021.
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 Front page photos  
Top: Royal Patron HRH The Prince of Wales with Nick Phillips, CEO and Elizabeth Fathi, Chair visiting Bond’s Hospital almshouses, 
Coventry and (right) Association trustee Willie Hartley Russell cutting The Almshouse Association 75th anniversary cake at 
Bucklebury House, Berkshire. Centre, from left: Sir Josiah Mason Trust residents celebrate at Mason Cottages, Erdington,  
Birmingham; Residents and trustees with their 75th anniversary cake at the Andros Almshouse Charity in South Chailey,  
East Sussex; Enjoying the garden at St Mary’s Hospital, Chichester. Below: The Rt Hon Theresa May MP, presented awards  
at the 75th anniversary garden party, with staff, trustees and ambassadors.
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income and we drew from the designated reserves in 
order to provide much-needed additional member  
services, support and engagement, and to complete  
the final stages of our current strategic plan.  
 
Fundraising has become a central activity and we have 
sought professional advice to give us the best chance 
of success. We are blessed with active support from 
our Patron, HRH The Prince of Wales and Vice Patron, 
HRH The Duke of Gloucester who, along with our 
ambassadors, provide an invaluable platform on  
which we can inform, educate and raise the profile  
of almshouses and the central place they have played 
and continue to play in housing local people in need.  
 
Most of us know, at first-hand, individual stories of 
hardship and distress relieved not just by the allocation 
of an almshouse but by the community spirit and 
friendship that is found within. Our research, carried  
out this last year, shows the benefits that almshouses 
can bring to local economies as well as to the 
residents’ wellbeing, longevity and sense of belonging. 
We witness lives being changed for the better.  

We intend to begin a new fundraising appeal this  
coming year and to build on a strong footing of partner-
ship working with like-minded national organisations 
especially those helping people in need and those  
looking after historic, sometimes ancient, buildings.  
 
Whilst our 75th anniversary had to be, by pandemic  
necessity, a small open-air gathering to present 
awards and mark the occasion, I am hopeful that our 
Members Day planned for June 2022 will allow us all  
to meet up again and celebrate - celebrate the  
movement, celebrate the network and celebrate your 
achievements as trustees and almshouse supporters.  
I very much look forward to seeing you there.  
 
In the meantime, it just remains for me to thank  
everyone who works so tirelessly with The Almshouse 
Association, to keep this very special, enduring housing 
model in good heart. Here’s to the next 75 years! 

Our research, carried out this last year, shows 
the benefits that almshouses can bring to  
local economies as well as to the residents’  
wellbeing, longevity and sense of belonging. 
We witness lives being changed for the better. 
We intend to begin a new fundraising appeal 
this coming year ... 

left: Chair Elizabeth Fathi at the Association’s 75th 
anniversary garden party alongside fellow 

board members Richard Knipe, David Healey,  
Tricia Scouller and Clive Cook, with guests 

The Rt Hon Theresa May MP and Almshouse Association ambassador Kevin Crossley-Holland. 
above right: Royal Vice Patron HRH Duke of Gloucester at Winnocks and Kendalls Almshouse Charity in Colchester, one of three 

almshouse charities he visited during a busy month in September.

Elizabeth Fathi,  
Chair of The Almshouse Association

left: The Almshouse Association staff members worked hard to 
showcase both the Association and the almshouse  
movement during our 75th year.
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REPORT
In 2021 we maintained our focus on the 2018-2023 strategy despite the distractions of COVID-19.  
We are encouraged by the considerable progress made during the year and the number of strategic 
projects delivered - twenty are now completed whilst ten are in the process to conclude. 

During 2021, led by our Chair Liz Fathi, the board  
offered and delivered relentless support to me as CEO,  
to the team and to the almshouse movement.  
Their commitment, encouragement and professional  
guidance has driven standards of service, delivery  
of strategic objectives ahead of time and on budget  
and built spirit and enthusiasm in the organisation.  
 
The members of the board continue to serve on sub-
committees, act as champions and stretch every sinew 

to further the great works of almshouses and our 
member charities. This service, given freely, is often pro-
vided with the additional support of their own charities.  

During 2021, the team tirelessly maintained the support 
offered to members, responding to over 2,500 enquiries, 
supporting members with up-to-date trusted informa-
tion about legislation, governance, charity law, health 
and safety, finances, trusteeship and industry issues.  
 
Our team encouraged and processed 26 funding  
applications, approved £699,000 in new loans and 
£102,220 of grants from The Almshouse Association  
reserves to support members. Some of the grants 
were made for emergency purposes to respond to  
issues such as failed boilers or roofs where the  

member charity had insufficient funds. The team  
supported 17 struggling charities back into a position  
of resilience (often with the support of our team of  
regional champions or trustees). In place of face-to-
face seminars, the Association ran several webinars  
on key topics, such as recruiting trustees, trustee  
responsibilities and mergers. Credit is also due to our 
regional champions for their help in contacting local 
charities and being ready to signpost any issues back 
to The Almshouse Association team.  

There were three staff changes in 2021. Our fundraising 
strategy was reviewed and it was felt that greater  
success may be achieved through utilising external  
experts. This meant that the post of Head of  
Fundraising was not required. Our Head of Member  
Services left the Association at the end of 2021 and an 
experienced member of staff stepped into the role. 
 
The almshouse movement continued to be heard in  
government with the success of the ongoing All-Party 
Parliamentary Group on Almshouses and research  
has continued with a detailed independent report  
identifying the added value that almshouses bring to 
the community. 
 
It is important to highlight some of the significant 
areas of work undertaken by the team in 2021. Within 
our strategy, raising the profile of the movement and 
the Association is key to achieving many other  
objectives.  
 
2021 was the 75th anniversary year for The Almshouse 
Association. Given the global pandemic, it would have 
been understandable if we had let the date pass  
without any fanfares, however there was such a strong 
feeling amongst the team that we must continue with 
our plans.  

above left: Nick Phillips CEO with Vice Patron HRH The Duke of Gloucester at Winnocks and Kendalls Almshouse Charity,  
Colchester and  (above right) speaking at The Almshouse Association 75th anniversary event at Bucklebury House.

The almshouse movement continued 
to be heard in government with the  
success of the ongoing All-Party  
Parliamentary Group on Almshouses 
and research has continued with a  
detailed independent report identifying 
the added value that almshouses bring 
to the community.
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Our founders gathered to establish The Almshouse  
Association 75 years ago as the smouldering rubble  
of WWII was being lifted from the devastated City of 
London, so we felt we could not slow our step because 
of a pandemic! The 75th anniversary celebrations were 
rapidly redesigned in the face of the pandemic.  

Events were moved to outdoor spaces and smaller  
indoor parties within our members’ communities and  
concluded with a garden party for the Association  
and partners, supported by many of our  
ambassadors. They included Kevin Crossley-
Holland who wrote and delivered a  
wonderful poem for the celebration.  
 
We are, as always, grateful to our Royal  
Patron and Vice Patron, HRH The Prince of 
Wales and HRH The Duke of Gloucester.  
The Prince of Wales, though not able to  
attend the event, gave our trustees and 
members a heart-warming and thoughtful 

video message referencing how he recognises 
the value of almshouses in the community and 
wishing us all a happy 75th anniversary. 
 
The 75th celebrations across the movement  
included over 35 garden parties and 73 media  
references and articles about the almshouse  
model, with the Association featuring twice in  
the national press, once on the BBC and in four 
trade press publications. 

above: Our Royal Patron, HRH The Prince of Wales, unable to attend 
the 75th anniversary event, presented trustees and members with 

a heart-warming and thoughtful video message. 
 

right: Special thanks to Almshouse Association trustee, 
Willie Hartley Russell (pictured cutting the anniversary cake) for 

hosting the Association’s 75th anniversary garden party.

left: Residents of Mason Cottages, Sir Josiah Mason 
Trust almshouses, West Midlands, in their dancing 
shoes! 

 
below: Saffron Walden almshouses mark The Almshouse  

Association’s 75th anniversary with a garden party  
welcoming 550 guests. photograph credit: Celia Bartlett.

Despite the background of 
COVID-19, 2021 had a palpable 
sense of drive and enthusiasm 
amongst the team and  
members and hence so much 
was achieved. 



THE ALMSHOUSE ASSOCIATION ANNUAL REPORT 2021  |  5

The almshouse movement is often symbolised 
by the historic buildings representing the  
charities. About a third of our member charities 
hold historic buildings and many are the most 
significant historic buildings in the towns and  
villages of their community.  
 
Our members have asked for help in  
maintaining these wonderful buildings and 
Historic England has now started a project  
to develop a guide for almshouse charities  
and local historic building officers. This guide 
or “Architectural Note” booklet will emphasise  
the architectural importance of almshouse  
buildings and enable them to adapt  
sympathetically to continue their use. 
 
Many of our members’ building projects were  
delayed during the pandemic, but astonishingly  
hundreds of new almshouses were built in 2021  
despite the challenges and many more planned over 
coming years. The Association worked with the 
Almshouse Consortium Ltd and Homes England to  
support many new building projects and saw over 
350 new homes built.  
 
We have continued to work with members seeking 
to develop and add to their almshouses and we 
maintain a positive relationship with The Church of 

above: Girton Town Charity, Cambridgeshire marks a milestone at 
Dovehouse Court with the erection of timber frame panels for the 

new energy efficient ‘Passivhaus’ homes. 
 

below: The Hallaton and Isabella Stelling Trust welcomes a young 
family to their new home in Harborough.

England and their interest in almshouse development on 
church land. We have also worked with other partners 
supporting almshouse development such as The National 
Federation of Housing. We anticipate increasing support 
in this key area in the future. The All-Party Parliamentary 
Group on Almshouses has met and helped raise the value 
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and profile of almshouses amongst Members of  
Parliament. MPs were contacted about their local 
almshouse during the pandemic and some positive 
relationships have been formed.  

The first of our independent research reports seeking 
evidence into the value for money of the almshouse 
model, was completed and released in 2021. The  
objective of the independent report was to under-
stand where and how the almshouse model adds 
value to the residents and the community. We are 

finding that local government has a great influence  
on how our members can expand and thrive and the 
report recognises that almshouses significantly  
reduce costs to the local authority.  
 
One aspect of the report shows that the reduction  
in loneliness offered by the almshouse model often 
leads to fewer visits to GPs, fewer nights in hospital 
and fewer emergency call outs. In total, almshouses  
provide £43m in financial benefits every year.  

Further research is underway and this includes  
the largest study undertaken on the longevity of 
almshouse residents compared to those living in 
other forms of housing.  

We know, however, that the ‘almshouse difference’ 
cannot be shown purely through financial benefit.  
To help create a well-rounded image of what  
makes almshouses unique and beneficial,  
we will continue to grow our research so that we  
can better understand what almshouses do  

well, what makes the greatest difference to 
residents’ lives and how they can become even  
better. 
 
Through the Association’s proactive engagement in 
2021 it has become clear, however, that not all 
almshouse charities are thriving and many face 
maintenance, financial and governance issues.  

Report cover courtesy of Whiteley Homes Trust, Surrey.

above: At the Hospital of St John the Evangelist and of 
St Anne, Oakham, CEO Paul Martin hands over the keys 

of a newly converted flat to new resident, Terence. 
 

right: Ann Bonnett, Chair of Girton Town Charity, 
welcomes new residents, Florence and Callum, key workers at Addenbrooke’s Hospital, Cambridge, who will live in a new Girton 

Town almshouse for three years while they save for their own home and remain living near to their family.

To help create a well-rounded image of what makes almshouses unique and beneficial, we will 
continue to grow our research so that we can better understand what almshouses do well, what 
makes the greatest difference to residents’ lives and how they can become even better.
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Although rewarding, the responsibility of being an 
almshouse charity trustee is not an easy task.  
The number and availability of trustees is a challenge  
and member trustees have required support in finding 
successors, upskilling their own boards, and dealing 
with the complexities of running a charity. The  
Association team has responded with enthusiasm  
and plans are in place to deliver more training,  
networking events, new webinars and help make the 
role more enjoyable in 2022. 
 
The Association continued to upgrade our in-house IT, 
moving to a cloud-based Microsoft 365 system for  
improved efficiency, flexibility and security at the end  
of 2021, having already introduced a new CRM system  
in 2020 that has become a lifeline whilst we work  
remotely.  
 
The Almshouse Association was unable to meet  
budgeted income expectations in this period as events 
and seminars had to be cancelled, albeit some  
associated costs were reduced. The Association  
continues to be prudent with finances whilst using 
more of the reserves to support our members.  
 
The unrestricted funds allotted to delivering the  
strategy are being used constructively and projects 
continue to come in below budget. The main costs  
of the office move have yet to be utilised, however, 
staffing to deliver parts of the strategy, developing 
a CRM system, upgrading IT, government communica-
tions and information systems, online training, profile 
raising and focused support have all been delivered 
within budget. Our finances remain in a good position 
but we will need to maintain our ambition that  
subscriptions should cover the main operational costs 
by 2030.  
 
At present, membership fees cover just over 50% of  
running costs. 2022 saw a small rise in subscription 
rates to keep in line with inflation. Costs of the  
Association remained within budget and the invest-

ment returns helped show positive results for 2021. Our 
fundraising targets were significantly affected in 2020 
and 2021 and failed to meet budget. This was partly due 
to the pandemic curtailing events that were the focus 
of our fundraising strategy. In 2021 we received a  
significant donation to our resources of £249,000 from 
East Bilney Almshouses that were ceasing operations.  
 
I must repeat our credit and thanks to members  
who have supported their charities with much  
professionalism and enthusiasm throughout another 
challenging year for all charities, but particularly  
those who provide such meaningful support to often  
vulnerable residents. A further thanks to our members 
who offer support to the movement, help raise  
the profile of the movement, support other local  
almshouses and make donations to the Association  
to support the delivery of our services. 

 
The future for the Association will be to focus on 
greater support, training and networking opportunities 
for trustees, assistance in finding successors and  
upskilling existing teams, support with buildings, 
particularly maintenance, new builds and decarbon- 
isation. We will maintain our helplines, further develop 
our engagement with trustees and continue to raise  
the profile of the movement, attracting more  
philanthropists and donors to establish new charities 
that will continue to serve those in housing need for  
another thousand years. 

Nick Phillips, 
Chief Executive of The Almshouse Association

The Association continued to upgrade our  
in-house IT, moving to a cloud-based Microsoft 
365 system for improved efficiency, flexibility 
and security at the end of 2021, having already 
introduced a new CRM system in 2020 that has 
become a lifeline whilst we work remotely.

Residents and trustees of the Methodist Homestead almshouses, Northampton, enjoy afternoon tea.
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MEMBERSHIP AND DEVELOPMENT
Membership 
   Total number of members                             1,582  
   Total number of sites                                     2,524  
   Members gained/(losses/mergers)                5/(9) 

Member charities 
   Total dwellings (approx.)                                29,306  
   Total residents (approx.)                                 33,382 
   Charities with a warden/ 
                   scheme manager (approx.)                 684

Almshouse charities by size 
             n  5 or fewer dwellings               n      6-10 dwellings 
             n  11-20 dwellings                        n      21-50 dwellings 
             n  51-100 dwellings                      n      100+ dwellings

Almshouses with 
listed/conservation area status

Membership enquiries by type - 2021

600 

500 

400 

300 

200 

100 

0
36

523

217

222

90

    Grade I          Grade II         Grade II*       Conservation Area

             0              100           200            300            400           500            600          700

60

441 - 28%

563 - 36%

259 - 16%

220 - 14%

36 - 2%63 - 4%

Charity type 
   Charitable Incorporated Organisations               78  
   Charitable Company limited by guarantee        43 
   Unincorporated                                                 1,461

Registered providers                                288

Membership by country 
    England                                                                1,546  
    Wales                                                                       32  
    Scotland                                                                      1  
    Northern Ireland                                                        2  
    Channel Islands                                                         1

Accommodation 

Land/buildings 

Health and Safety 
(including Coronavirus) 

Governance 

Financial 

Residents

267

84

242

589

Other unspecified membership enquiries - 934. Total enquiries by phone/email in 2021 - 2,555.
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STRUCTURE,  GOVERNANCE AND MANAGEMENT

PUBLIC BENEFIT

The 2018 - 2023 strategy is the guide and direction for the team. The Association board reviews the strategy at 
each board meeting and every Finance and General Purposes meeting. The board reviews and guides on the  
delivery of the strategy. The key projects have been delivered throughout the 2021 period. Twenty of the projects 
have been completed and ten are well under way. Areas of the strategy completed include the elements below: 
   l   Legal definition of almshouses agreed with the Charity Commission 
   l   Member surveys 
   l   All-Party Parliamentary Group on Almshouses 
   l   IT upgrade Microsoft 365 
   l   CRM system for improved service - introduce and train staff 
   l   Government advocate alert service introduced  
   l   New logo and branding 
   l   Online training 
   l   Introduction of proactive “seek and support” health check for charities in crisis 
   l   Research projects completed - Return on Investment Value of Almshouses agreed 
   l   Mediation charity service engaged  
   l   75th anniversary celebrations 
The Almshouse Association is considering the long-term objectives of driving up standards for all almshouse 
charities. There will be a review of the current strategy in 2022. This review will take into account the  
achievements made to date against the strategy, the needs of our members following the pandemic and the  
opportunities available for members. It is clear there are pressures on recruitment, retention and development  
of trustees, increased costs of older buildings and increased demand for more almshouses.

The Almshouse Association board is responsible for guiding the charity and developing and overseeing the delivery 
of the strategy. In doing so, the board employs and manages the Chief Executive Officer, monitors the finances and 
acts as champion for the Association and the almshouse movement. Crucially, the board ensures that the vision of 
our founders 75 years ago is delivered today. 

The Almshouse Association was established in 1946 to raise the profile of the almshouse movement, to support all 
member almshouse charities in their duty of providing homes and community to their residents, to help member 
charities protect their buildings and continue to develop more and better almshouse communities. 
The Almshouse Association carries out support to member charities by offering a helpdesk, guidance manual,  
training, seminars, networking opportunities, representation at national and local government level, engaging  
experts to advise on specific issues, offering loans and emergency grants when needed and engaging and  
proactively supporting those charities in most need. 

THE LEONARD HACKETT MEMORIAL TRUST (LHMT)

STRATEGY 2018-2023

The Leonard Hackett Memorial Trust exists to promote and advance the charitable work of The Almshouse  
Association. It is an independent charity led by volunteer trustees with the mission to support almshouse 
charities that are failing to deliver suitable homes and communities to their residents. Acting as a “trustee 
of last resort”, the trustees take an active leadership role in guiding the Association team, assisting them  
to bring the buildings, the governance and the finances of the charity in crisis to a robust condition before 
establishing a new independent local board of trustees to oversee the long-term future of the charity. 
 
The trustees of the Leonard Hackett Memorial Trust, under the chairmanship of Tricia Scouller, have  
reviewed the role of LHMT and feel that earlier prevention is a more efficient way of dealing with charities 
needing support. However, the charity remains ready to step in as a charity of last resort. Currently LHMT is 
responsible for running the Edmund Sawyer Charity, two stone cottages in Kettering. In 2021, LHMT reviewed 
Edmund Sawyer Charity and carried out a detailed survey. LHMT are considering long-term options with the 
almshouse charity.  

“LHMT remains an important backstop for charities in crisis and will always have a role to 
support The Almshouse Association and its members in most need.” 
Tricia Scouller, Chair of The Leonard Hackett Memorial Trust



The pandemic certainly influenced everyone’s plans, 
however, we continued as close to our plan as  
possible though often needing to prepare for a plan B 
and sometimes a plan C, utilising digital media and 
video conferencing to convey our messages. Our  
messaging was based around four important targets: 
government and local authorities, the housing and 
charity sectors, the general public and our members.  
 
Our aim was to build better understanding with  
central government and closer engagement with MPs 
and local authorities, to help them recognise 
almshouses and their benefits (socially, mentally, 
physically and financially) and let them know how 

they could assist almshouse charities in  
their local area. We produced a government  
information pack about almshouses as well 
as statistics and facts to help educate and 

RAISING THE PROFILE
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The 75th anniversary of The Almshouse Association  
in 2021 was developed as the central theme of our 
marketing activity for 2021. This theme ran in parallel 
with our strategy to raise the profile of the 
almshouse movement and the Association and was 
woven into the fabric of the celebrations and events 
that took place throughout the UK.  
 
Members joined in the celebrations with their own 
local events which were supported by our information 
packs and news articles, member stories and social 
media posts. Throughout the year there was a sense 
of collaboration, celebration and community spirit,  
indicative of the almshouse movement. 

above: St Mary’s Hospital Charities almshouses, Horsham.  
right: The Thomas Christie Almshouse Charity, Bedford. below: Percy 
Bilton Court, Hounslow, part of the Skinners’ Almshouse Charity.
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raise the profile of almshouses. We established a  
dedicated ‘APPG on Almshouses’ area on our website. 
Almshouses were featured in the National Association 
of Local Councils, the Labour Housing Group  
Newsletter, Local Government Association and  
spoken about in The House of Lords. Within the  
housing, social and charity sectors, we focused our  
attention on informative articles and stories in the 

trade press and explored possible partnership 
opportunities with organisations such as The Church 
of England, English Heritage and Historic England.  
 
Articles on almshouses were featured in several  
publications, including Inside Housing accompanied by  
a comment from Lord Best, in Civil Society, The People’s 
Friend and The National Housing Federation. They also 
featured on the Church of England website and in the  
Church of England Coming Home report, which made  
one of the most public and high-profile endorsements 
for the almshouse model in recent times. 
 
Having undertaken a YouGov survey in 2020 to gauge  
the level of knowledge about almshouses amongst the 
general public, it was evident that the level of knowledge 
was lower than we hoped. So, despite the restrictions  
of the pandemic, we were determined to increase 
awareness of the almshouse movement. 
 
We showcased events, greatly supported by our Royal 
Patron visits, attended new development and refurbish-
ment launches, announced anniversaries, centenarian 
birthdays and promoted the benefits of almshouse living. 
We highlighted one of the most powerful merits of 

almshouses, the ‘community spirit’ that occurs in their 
unique micro-communities and how they engender 
compassion and kindness. Almshouses were featured  
in local and national newspapers, including a feature in 
the Saturday Telegraph with Almshouse Association  
ambassador, Dan Cruickshank, in conjunction with the 

above: Almshouse Association Royal Vice Patron HRH The Duke 
of Gloucester (centre left) at Le Personne Homes in Caterham 
with (from left) Nick Phillips CEO, Almshouse Association;  
warden Wendy Hulme; Chairman, Eithne Webster;  
trustee, Patrick Cannon; Clerk, Gina Caunt; the Lord Lieutenant 
of Surrey, Michael More-Molyneux; and the Chairman 
Tandridge District Council, Simon Morrow.

left: St Mary’s Hospital, Chichester.
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Remember a Charity campaign, on  
social media and in online stories 
about almshouses in the local  
community, with links to our  
website where they could find out 
more about the past, the present  
and the future of the almshouse 
movement. We also created videos 
and recordings which were able to 
impart more detailed information 
about the movement, as well as case 
studies and statistics and facts pages 
that could easily be accessed by the 
public via a dedicated area on our 
website.  
  
Our message to our members included creating a 
spotlight for their almshouse charities, inviting them 
to join us in celebrating the almshouse movement 
by holding special garden parties and events 
throughout the year. We highlighted member stories 
in the local press, our social media channels and 
through our dedicated 75th anniversary pages on 
the Association’s website.  
 
Members interacted with us daily with details of 
their proposed plans and activities which we also 
included in the Almshouses Gazette. We designed 
and produced a celebration pack with tips, advice 

and templates to help members plan their events and 
organised special online member networking meetings 
to discuss their ideas with other members.  
We also encouraged members to involve their local 
communities, inviting special guests, MPs, mayors, 
families, friends, supporters and the press to join the 
trustees and residents at their garden parties and  
special events. We supported them to do this with  
PR advice, press release templates, key messages and 
quotes from our CEO.  

(above): The Almshouses of Robert Stiles, Wantage - Oxfordshire Deputy Lord  
Lieutenant, Brigadier Dennis Blease; Wantage and Didcot MP, David Johnston 

Our message to our members included creating a spotlight for their almshouse charities, inviting 
them to join us in celebrating the almshouse movement by holding special garden parties and 
events throughout the year ... We designed and produced a celebration pack with tips, advice  
and templates to help members plan their events ...

and the Mayor of Wantage (who is also a trustee of the charity) 
Jim Sibbald. photo: Scott Galbraith. (below): Linton Park 

Almshouses in Kent. photo: Richard Butters.



Theresa May MP, who presented the awards. The 
event was held in the grounds of Bucklebury House, 
generously permitted by board member, Willie Hartley 
Russell. The celebration was added to with a special 
video message from our Royal Patron HRH The Prince 
of Wales and the reading of a poem written for The 
Almshouse Association by celebrated poet, author and 
Association ambassador, Kevin Crossley-Holland. 
 
Alongside, we ran a photo competition for members 
with some beautiful images being sent in. These were 
judged by a panel which included our professional 
photographer, Richard Gray (our thanks to Richard for 
his support). We also enjoyed a special collaboration 
with Hornby in 2021, who launched their new 
almshouse model earlier in 2021. 
 
We intend to continue our strategy to raise  
awareness of almshouses and the very special  
character and spirit of these great historic charities. 
There is a lot to look forward to in 2022!
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During the year some of our members were delighted 
to receive visits from our Royal Patrons, HRH The Prince 
of Wales and HRH The Duke of Gloucester and we were 
honoured to have HRH The Prince of Wales cut a 75th 
anniversary cake during his visit to Bond’s Hospital 
almshouses in Coventry. 
 
The Almshouse Association held a 75th anniversary 
garden party in September 2021. It was a beautiful 
sunny day, attended by trustees and award winners,  
ambassadors and regional champions, with special 
guests including former Prime Minister, The Rt Hon 

(above): Almshouse Association Patron HRH The Prince of Wales meets residents at Bond’s Hospital almshouses, Coventry. 
(below left): Competition winner, Sheila Seymour, clerk to the trustees at Matthew Chubb Almshouses, Crewkerne, won 
first prize for her photo on the theme ‘Happiness’, entitled ‘In my shed, litho printing’.  
(below right): The Hornby almshouse model.  photo: Hornby.
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STATEMENT OF RISK
The board is ultimately responsible for “risk”. Day-to-day responsibility for risk is overseen by the CEO  
and senior staff but the board maintains a keen watch on the Risk Register, regularly challenging and  
reviewing the highest priority risks. The Register is updated and reviewed at every board and Finance  
and General Purposes meeting. The Almshouse Association’s principal risk areas are as follows:

Efficiency impacted 
during COVID-19 
crisis. 
 
 
 
Service to members  
affected by poor  
communications. 
 
 
 
 
 
Loss of fundraising 
and investment 
income. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
New government 
policies negatively 
affect members. 
 
 
Information 
technology. 
 
 
 
Poor member  
charity governance. 
 
 
 
 
Procedural and  
systems  
documentation.

Operational 
 
 
 
 
 
Operational 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Financial 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Policy 
 
 
 
 
Operational 
 
 
 
 
Reputational 
 
 
 
 
 
Operational

Aspect               Key Risk                        Description                                     Mitigation 

Staff working from home  
and utilising inefficient IT. 
Staff communication 
impacted by loss of contact. 
Staff sickness. 
 
Members unable to  
attend events and main  
communication reliant  
on telephone, website  
and email. 
 
 
 
Charitable Trusts are  
focused on awarding grants 
to COVID-19 emergency  
charities.  
Fewer opportunities to  
engage with donors during 
lockdown. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Government policy affects 
members and the Association  
is unable to influence. 
 
 
Systems fail to meet  
operational need. Failure to 
innovate or update systems, 
loss or corruption of data. 
 
Member charities do not  
provide an acceptable  
standard of accommodation 
and support for their  
residents. 
 
Lack of awareness of  
procedure and policies. 
Board access to AA policy 
documents. 
 

Regular communication 
with IT company.  
CEO acts as main contact to  
oversee service. 
Cover back-up plan in place. 
 
Establish team member responsible  
for help with web access issues.  
Maintain website information 
and guidance. 
Develop team of regional contacts  
to act as on the ground contacts to  
signpost to TAA over regional issues.  
 
Focus on fundraising high level,  
dedicated staff to develop relationships 
with corporates, individuals and develop 
and deliver the legacy strategy.  
Regular reports on fundraising  
to the board and F&GP. 
Case for support with new branding  
developed and being used. 
Specialised fundraising consultant  
recruited. 
Review at six months and reprioritise  
if needed. 
 
High level engagement with MPs,  
civil servants and Lords.  
Clear key messages on behalf of our 
members. 
 
Systems upgraded and external 
IT support contracts in place. 
 
 
 
Focus on identifying those members 
who might require support.  
Identifying training and resources  
required. 
 
 
Ongoing Compliance Reviews. 
Loan and grant policy procedures  
updated. 
Regular senior leadership team meetings. 
GDPR and policy reviews.
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ADVICE AND ASSISTANCE

Member usage of The Almshouse Association services
Almshouses Gazette 

Almshouse Association website 

Model policies and templates 

Support via telephone/email 

Standards of Almshouse Management manual 

Training seminars/webinars 

Members’ Forum 

NAACIP insurance 

Online training 

Support and Care Manual 

Panel of Consultants 

Grant/Loan 

None of the above

84%

83%

67%

61%

55%

44%

26%

23%

22%

21%

14%

8%

4%

The restrictions arising from COVID-19 that had been 
imposed during the year continued to impact the 
way in which the Association delivered its services 
to members during 2021. We are pleased to report, 
however, that we have been able to continue to 
serve the membership without interruption.  
 
Our website continued to be a key source of  
information which we constantly update with 
trusted and scrutinised information including relevant 
news items, as well as providing online courses and 
new model policies with templates.  
 
We were able to continue to provide one-to-one  
advice to our member almshouse charities either by 
telephone or email. During the year a total of 2,555 
enquiries were received by us, of which 589 were 
from members of the general public seeking to move 
into almshouse accommodation.  
 
The customer relationship management system  
installed prior to the pandemic proved to be a  
first-class resource. This has enabled us to record 
and monitor relevant information about the  
membership in an easily accessible format and  
has proved invaluable in supporting us to provide  
high levels of service and attention to detail.  

The most common areas of advice were: 
   l   Land & Buildings - which included EPCs,  
         maintenance, new builds and Section 106  
         agreements 
   l   Governance - which covered changes to  
         charity structure, appointing trustees and 
         registered provider enquiries 
   l   Resident Queries - including appointing  
         residents and general resident issues. 
 
For the second year running, the pandemic prevented 
us from hosting face-to-face training seminars or  
in person meetings. But the webinars, of which we  
organised seven during the year, proved to be highly  
successful and we are delighted with the feedback  
we received. Professional speakers covered topics  
that included trustee roles and responsibilities,  
working practices in almshouse charities, setting  
aside appointments, the Social Housing White Paper,  
diversifying the charity’s board, dealing with antisocial 
behaviour and mergers and takeovers.  
 
The Almshouse Association conducted a survey during 
October 2021 in which we asked our members which of 
our services they had used in the previous 18 months.  
The graph below details the percentage of members 
(who completed the survey) who have used each service. 
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FUNDRAISING

AMBASSADORS

We are grateful to all our ambassadors who 
have worked on our behalf in 2021, some  
behind the scenes, others in the forefront. 
 
Dan Cruickshank 
British art historian and BBC television presenter, 
Dan Cruickshank, provided a tremendous amount 
of support throughout 2021. Dan participated in  
discussions to support our plans to make a  
documentary about the history of almshouses. 
Plans are now being made for this exciting project. 
Dan also appeared in The Daily Telegraph highlight-
ing the value of almshouses to the community 
and their importance as architectural icons of our 
ancient towns and villages.  
He referenced the importance of legacies to the 
movement. Our thanks to Dan for his brilliant  
contribution. 

Every year The Almshouse Association awards 
grants and loans to our members. In 2021, £699,000 
was approved in new loans, compared with £794,000 
in 2020. Grants made in 2021 totalled £102,220  
compared with £338,005 in 2020. The Association 
made two emergency grants in 2021 helping charities 
provide warm, secure homes when their own funds 
were diminished. 
 
The work of the Association has a significant impact 
on member charities, almshouse buildings and, in 
turn, residents’ lives. Fundraising is vital to the long- 
term stability of the Association. The three areas of 
fundraising focused on in 2021 were charities in crisis, 
protection of historic buildings and new almshouses.  
 
Our efforts did not deliver the targeted results  
and late in 2021 it was decided that an outside  
organisation was required in order for us to meet our 
fundraising objectives. 

Across the charitable sector, there have been  
concerns raised about the impact of COVID-19 on  
income generation and this looks likely to continue 
into 2022. COVID-19 support funding provided financial 
help to those charities working on the front line of  
the response to the pandemic but, across the board, 
charities have seen a significant decrease in income 
from fundraising. These are challenging times and  
we are working hard to respond to the changes in the 
charitable landscape in order to sustain our service to 
our members. 
 
The Almshouse Association engaged Wootton George 
Consulting in January 2021 to help develop fundraising 
in the areas of trusts and foundations, corporate  
partnerships and major gifts. Progress has been made 
in each area but not sufficient to meet expenditure or 
budget. The Almshouse Association has engaged a 
specialist consultant to review the case for support 
and the fundraising strategy. 

Our ambassadors work with us to: 
   l   help promote the timeless concept of local almshouses for local people 
   l   celebrate the great work of member trustees running almshouses  
   l   use their extensive knowledge and networks to spread the word about the almshouse movement 
   l   support our engagement with government to influence on behalf of the almshouse movement 
   l   raise questions in both Houses in support of the almshouse movement 
   l   be at the forefront of many of our campaigns.

Our ambassadors continue to be vital to the Association’s programme of raising our profile and influence 
as well as offering expertise in specific areas. We are extremely grateful for their support. 
(see inside front cover for a full list of ambassadors)

photo: Royal Chelsea Hospital.
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REGIONAL CHAMPIONS
In 2020, The Almshouse Association launched a new and exciting project to support our members 
across the country. The project included a plan to enlist regional representatives who would provide  

a good listening ear for local charities and give focused 
signposting to The Almshouse Association’s services  
that are available to our members. In phase one, seven  
regional champions were engaged, and we are pleased to 
announce that in 2021, Margaret Stewart was welcomed  
as the regional champion for Lancashire.   
 
Margaret Stewart 
Margaret has been a trustee and clerk to Frances  
Darlington Charity since 1990 and is on the Board of 
Trustees for The Almshouse Association. A Parochial 
Church Council secretary and parish administrator,  
Margaret is associated with her local church and  
community, supporting families at times of baptisms, 
weddings and funerals. She is also a member of the  
Diocesan Synod. She enjoys supporting charities and is 
looking forward to her role as a regional champion. 

Baroness Joan Bakewell DBE HonFBA FRSA  
Baroness Bakewell participated in a House of Lords  
debate early in 2021. The Almshouse Association 
would like to express its thanks to Baroness Bakewell 
for raising a question in the House of Lords regarding 
Section 106 agreements. We are proud to see our  
engagement efforts beginning to bear fruit with  
an aim to see almshouses regularly mentioned in  
Parliament.  
 
Robert Durie OBE FRICS  
Robert Durie led a Bristol based group of almshouse  
supporters and CEOs to visit the Plaza de America  
intergenerational housing complex in Alicante. Robert 
returned inspired by the Alicante model.  
A key feature is the intergenerational living involving 
young people living alongside their older neighbours 
and providing support for four hours a week, the ratio 
being four older people to one younger person. The 
support provided is social: befriending, running errands 
and doing things together.  
A pre-planning application was made and, based on 
recommendations, Robert and a team aim to create a 
30-36 unit complex in the heart of Bristol, close to all 
amenities.

Kevin Crossley-Holland FRSL 
At The Almshouse Association 75th anniversary  
celebrations, Kevin Crossley-Holland delighted  
everyone by presenting his poem, called  
‘An Alms-Basket’, written especially for our 75th  
anniversary year. Kevin is a wonderful advocate 
of the almshouse movement. Sincerest thanks 
for his dedication and support. 

We look forward to working with our ambassadors over the coming year 
and thank them all for the amazing support they offer the almshouse movement 
and The Almshouse Association. 



POLICIES AND GUIDANCE

STAFF
Management of the staff is delegated to the Chief Executive. There are 13 staff on the team - many are 
part time, amounting to nine full time equivalent. The Member Services team has been boosted this year 
by adding the skills and knowledge of Julian Marczak, who has many years almshouse experience, both 
hands on and  
strategic. The Head 
of Fundraising left 
the Association in the 
summer and the 
post remains  
vacant while  
we review the 
fundraising strategy. 
The Head of Member  
Services was offered 
an alternative job  
opportunity and  
resigned in late 2021.

REPRESENTATION AND ENGAGEMENT
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We successfully relaunched the All-Party Parliamentary 
Group (APPG) on Almshouses which held several events 
looking at the work of our members through the  
pandemic and the impact of our recent cost-benefit  
research.  
The group has given the Association a firm foothold 
within parliament, with a number of supportive MPs  
and Peers who are willing to fight our corner in both  
the House of Commons and Lords. Special thanks to  
our Chairs, Siobhain McDonagh MP and Sally-Ann Hart 
MP for their enduring support. We must now look to 
grow the membership of the group to further 
strengthen our voice in what is a very crowded market. 
We also held meetings with significant figures across 

the political landscape. Most notably, we were proud to 
meet with former Prime Minister, The Rt Hon Theresa May 
MP, who is a keen supporter of almshouses and was guest 
of honour at two 75th anniversary events. We also held 
meetings with government ministers, including Lord 
Callanan to discuss energy efficiency issues as they 
became more prominent for our members.  
We continue to hold regular meetings with the Charity 
Commission, the Department for Levelling Up, Housing  
and Communities, and the Regulator for Social Housing  
to ensure that the interests of our members and the 
almshouse model are protected. Beyond politics, the  
Association has also looked to become more widely  
engaged with the general housing sector. The purpose is 

“The team this 
year has operated with flexibility, dedication and professionalism. They have a collective energy, 
creativity and passion for supporting our members and the Association.”  
Nick Phillips, Chief Executive.

The Association seeks to provide all the key resources 
needed by our members to successfully run their 
almshouse charities. We offer model policies and  
templates, which are reviewed and updated regularly.  
If necessary, these are additionally reviewed by  
subject matter experts, including legal firms, to offer 
reassurance that our guidance documents are up-to-
date and relevant. As well as these regular reviews, we 
are constantly monitoring developments which may 
lead to the creation of new policies and guidance. 
The Association’s guidance manual, ‘Standards of 

Almshouse Management’, is updated regularly and 
available on our website with a search function and 
links to policies and third-party official guidance.  
Various other resources can be found on the site and 
we encourage members to use it as much as possible 
to stay up-to-date. The ‘Standards of Almshouse  
Management’ guidance manual is being reviewed in 
2022. Important updates and news items are regularly 
posted on our website and members who have  
consented receive regular email bulletins keeping them 
aware of developments in the almshouse movement.

Throughout 2021 we made significant progress in widening our engagement within government and beyond. 
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INSURANCE
Members are eligible to join the comprehensive almshouse insurance scheme administered by two main brokers, 
Grout Insurance Brokers, who are now part of Access Insurance whose almshouse policies are underwritten by 
Royal & Sun Alliance plc, and Higos Insurance Limited whose policies are underwritten by Ecclesiastical.  
During the year, The Almshouse Association received donations of £30,000 from Grout Insurance and £30,000 from 
Royal Sun Alliance and a donation as well as sponsorship of £11,778 from Higos.

ALMSHOUSE CONSORTIUM LTD
Almshouse Consortium Limited is an independent organisation that acts as a vehicle through which almshouses 
can access grant funding from Homes England and the Greater London Authority. It has been in existence for 
nearly 10 years and has received £45m funding for the remodelling or construction of over 1,600 almshouses.  
ACL is a non-profit making organisation with ownership in the hands of those almshouse charities which are 
currently grant funded, and receive support and assistance from The Almshouse Association.   
The barriers associated with charity housing models continue to prevent many charities accessing funding  
despite great passion to build more. In 2021, The Almshouse Association continued to work with ACL to help 
members access funding from Homes England and other funding bodies. 

for almshouses to be better  
understood and recognised 
amongst the wide range of  
housing tenures and we have been 
pleased to have articles on 
almshouses published by Inside 
Housing, NALC, National Housing 
Federation and Housing LIN.  
Working collaboratively with  
our housing partners allows us  
to provide greater service to our 
members and strengthens our 
voice when we can campaign  
on shared interests. We will  
continue to grow this area of our  
engagement as we continue to push 
for greater popular understanding of 
the almshouse model.

above: Worcester MP Robin Walker, together with the Mayor, Cllr Stephen Hodgson 
and Bishop John Inge, unveiled a plaque to commemorate the opening of Stillingfleet 

House, the latest 25 almshouse flats created for single homeless people by  
Worcester Municipal Charities. below: The Rt Hon Theresa May MP was a special 

guest at the 75th anniversary event at Robert Palmer’s Almshouse Charity, Sonning.



FINANCIAL REVIEW
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Overview
The Statement of Financial Activities shows that 
the Association’s net income before investment 
gains for 2021 was £114,637 (2020 net expenditure 
£360,787). Net gains on investments amounted  
to £1,134,215 (2020 £168,230).  
Total funds at 31 December 2021 were £12,780,259  
(2020 £11,531,407) divided between unrestricted,  
restricted and endowment funds. 
 
Of that total, £9,266,101 (2020 £8,164,887) is  
invested in various forms, and £2,843,288  
(2020 £2,869,478) had been lent to member  
charities.  
 
Net expenditure before investment gains was 
£196,004 in respect of unrestricted funds and 
there was income of £307,627 relating to  
restricted funds and income of £3,014 in respect 
of endowment funds. 
 
Total income of £1,094,046 was up 42.4% primarily 
as a result of a one-off donation from a member 
of £248,760. Excluding this one-off donation,  
total income was up 10.0% due to higher public 
fundraising donations. However, dividends  
receivable from investments were down 8.3% as 
a result of a reduction in dividend yields on  
investments due to the COVID-19 pandemic. 
Members’ subscriptions were in line with last 
year and income from other services such as 
seminar and conference fees were lower since 
the majority of events were cancelled during the 
year due to the pandemic. 
 
Total expenditure of £979,409 was £149,775 lower 
than the previous year mainly due to a decrease 
in grants made to members to assist them to 
develop and improve their almshouses. Due to 
the pandemic and the consequent reduction in 
members development projects, the number  
of grant and loan applications received from 
members reduced significantly in 2021 compared 
to 2020.   

Unrestricted funds
Unrestricted funds are those available for any 
purpose consistent with the Association’s  
objectives.  Income from all sources amounted to 
£624,247 (2020 £647,507); 54% was derived from 
members’ subscriptions, 16% from investment 
income and the balance raised through donations, 
services to member charities, sale of publications 
and fundraising. Bearing in mind that many  
of our members only have a small number of 
homes under management and may therefore 
find it particularly difficult to meet increased 
costs, the Association continues to maintain 
members’ subscriptions at a modest level. 
 
Reserves are held to ensure continuity of service 
to members and to provide investment income.  
A designated investment fund which amounted 
to £2,344,691 on 31 December 2021 is held to  
generate income to cover the shortfall between 
members’ subscriptions and the annual cost  
of running the Association. Members’  
subscriptions cover only about half the cost  
of the Association’s charitable activities. 
 
A designated terminal reserve fund of £370,000, 
equal to about half the total annual expenditure, 
is held to cover the cost of any liabilities arising 
in the event of the termination of activities. 
 
As reported in 2018, the board approved a  
five-year strategic plan to improve the support 
provided to member charities and to develop  
services. A strategic plan reserve of £708,000 
was allocated to fund this plan. During the year 
£121,093 (2020 £80,541) of the reserve was 
utilised, leaving a reserve balance of £483,072 on 
31 December 2021.  
 
The remainder of the unrestricted funds after  
allowing for those invested in tangible fixed  
assets constitute the Association’s free reserves, 
which amounted to £378,090 (2020 £517,527) 
which is less than a full year’s running costs.  
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During the year, Waverton Investment Manage-
ment Limited managed the investment funds  
for the charity as a single amalgamated fund  
comprising the invested portion of unrestricted,  
restricted and endowment funds. During the year 
the market value of investments generally  
increased as economic conditions recovered  
following the worst of the pandemic. 

Overall, there was an investment gain of £1,134,215 or 
13.9% for the year. Details are shown in Note 6. 
Investments also generated £186,959 of dividend and 
other distributable income, which was £16,864 less 
than the previous year due to a reduction in dividend 
yields on investments, mainly due to the pandemic.  
 
Restricted funds not yet allocated to interest free 
loans for members are held as investments or on 
short term cash deposits to the extent that they  
are required for loans included in the Association’s 
forward programme. Of the total unutilised restricted 
funds of £4,331,179 as at 31 December 2021,  
approximately 10% was held in the form of cash  
deposits and the remainder held either in managed 
funds or in a discretionary managed portfolio. 
 
The uncertainty within the global economy following 
the COVID-19 outbreak means that financial markets 
continue to be volatile. We pursue a balanced  
investment strategy which has helped to mitigate 
losses in this area. The Association has strategies 
in place to manage its short-term cash needs and 
takes a long-term view of its investments, and  
so does not believe that there is any risk to the  
sustainability of the organisation arising from  
current stock market fluctuations. 

Restricted funds

Investment policy and  
performance

Income from all sources amounted to £466,785 
(2020 £117,569); this increase was primarily due to 
an increase in fundraising income. The results  
benefitted from a one-off donation of £248,760  
received from a member. 
 
Restricted funds are held to provide loans and 
grants to member charities for almshouse  
improvement or development. As set out in Note 9 
to the financial statements, some of these funds 
are for specified almshouses, groups of  
almshouses and regions, with the remainder avail-
able to all members. Endowment funds are held to 
provide income for specific purposes. 
 
Loans and grants are provided to members when 
other sources of funding have been fully explored. 
The policy is that loans are interest free and  
generally repayable over a 10 year period, and 
grants of up to £25,000 are reserved for those 
charities that lack the resources to undertake  
a loan. A key objective of the Association’s 
fundraising campaign is to increase the level  
of restricted funds from which loans and grants 
are made. 
 
In 2021, £494,932 (2020 £535,120) was advanced in 
new loans and at the end of the year the total 
value of loans being provided and outstanding was 
£2,843,288. This figure includes an administration 
fee of 5% which is added to offset some of the  
Association’s costs. The total grants made in 2021 
were £77,220 compared with £338,005 in 2020. 

In response to the COVID-19 outbreak, the  
Association continues to proactively review  
its activities to ensure continued support to 
members. The trustees have reviewed the risks 
that COVID-19 poses to the charity and concluded 
that the charity is in a strong financial and  
operational position and can continue to support 
almshouses now and for the foreseeable future. 

Plans for future periods

Simon Ling FCA, 
Honorary Treasurer of The Almshouse Association



Statement of Financial Activities (SOFA) for year ended 31 December 2021, incorporating an  
Income and Expenditure Account. 
 
                                                             Notes   Unrestricted     Restricted     Endowment                  Total                  Total 
                                                                                     funds             funds                funds                  2021                 2020 
                                                                                             £                     £                        £                        £                        £ 
Income and endowments from:              2                          
Gifts, donations and legacies                                   130,491           374,944                  3,014             508,449              158,299 
Charitable activities                                                  398,571                     -                        -              398,571             405,544 
Investments                                                                95,185              91,841                        -              187,026             204,554 
Total                                                                           624,247          466,785                  3,014           1,094,046             768,397 
 
Expenditure on:                                          3 
Raising funds                                                             123,271             45,104                        -              168,375              153,226 
Charitable activities                                                 696,980           114,054                        -               811,034             975,958 
Total                                                                           820,251            159,158                        -              979,409             1,129,184 
 
Net income/(expenditure)  
before investment gains                                       (196,004)           307,627                  3,014               114,637            (360,787) 
 
Net gains on investments                         6            385,217           512,476             236,522            1,134,215              168,230 
 
Net income/(expenditure)  
and net movement in funds                                   189,213           820,103             239,536           1,248,852            (192,557) 
 
Reconciliation of funds 
Total fund balances brought 
forward at 1 January                                             3,386,640       6,354,364           1,790,403           11,531,407          11,723,964 
 
Fund balances carried 
forward at 31 December                           9          3,575,853         7,174,467          2,029,939         12,780,259           11,531,407 
 
 
The comparative Statement of Financial Activities is shown in Note 13 to the accounts. 
 
The total income for Companies Act purposes excludes £3,014 (2020: £3,321) income on endowment funds which 
is an increase in endowment capital. 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. There are no recognised gains and 
losses other than those stated above. 
All the income and expenditure is from continuing operations.
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Balance Sheet 
As at 31 December 2021                                                                                                                                    
                                                                               Notes                                               2021                             2020 
                                                                                                                                             £                                   £ 

Fixed assets 
Tangible assets                                                             5                                             32,361                           47,056 
Investments                                                                   6                                         9,266,101                       8,164,887  
                                       Total fixed assets                                                            9,298,462                       8,211,943 
 
Current assets 
Loans to member charities -                                     10 
     Recoverable within one year                                                                               507,579                         477,227 
     Recoverable after one year                                                                              2,335,709                      2,392,251 
 
Other debtors                                                                 7                                          384,042                        334,602 
Cash at bank and in hand                                                                                         674,286                         530,661 
                                   Total current assets                                                             3,901,616                       3,734,741 
 
Liabilities 
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year        8                                          (419,819)                        (415,277) 
                                                                       
                                      Net current assets                                                             3,481,797                       3,319,464 
 
           Total assets less current liabilities                                                          12,780,259                      11,531,407 
 
Total net assets                                                                                                     12,780,259                      11,531,407 
 
The funds of the charity:                                       9, 10 
Endowment funds                                                                                                  2,029,939                       1,790,403 
Restricted funds                                                                                                       7,174,467                      6,354,364 
                                 Total restricted funds                                                            9,204,406                       8,144,767 
 
Unrestricted funds 
         General                                                                                                               378,090                          517,527 
         Designated: 
              Investment reserve                                                                                   2,344,691                      1,894,948 
              Terminal reserve                                                                                          370,000                         370,000 
              Strategic plan reserve                                                                                 483,072                         604,165 
                            Total unrestricted funds                                                            3,575,853                      3,386,640 
 
Total charity funds                                                                                               12,780,259                      11,531,407 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
The financial statements on pages 22 to 37 were approved by the Board on 9 March 2022. 
 
 
 
 
 
Mrs E Fathi (Chair)                                                                                  Mr A Barnes (Trustee) 

The Almshouse Association                                           Registered company number 04678214
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Statement of Cash Flows 
For the year ended 31 December 2021                                                                                                      
                                                                                                                                  2021                                   2020 
                                                                                                                                       £                                         £ 
Cash flows from operating activities 
Net cash used in operating activities                                                                   (101,336)                             (429,203) 
Cash flows from investing activities 
Dividends and interest from investments                                                        187,026                               204,554 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment                                                      (1,256)                               (20,394) 
New loans made                                                                                              (494,932)                              (535,120) 
Repayments of loans made                                                                               521,122                               520,709 
Proceeds from sale of investments                                                                 581,653                             1,255,584 
Purchase of investments                                                                                  (516,371)                            (1,250,156) 
Net cash provided by investing activities                                                      277,242                                 175,177 
 
 
Analysis of changes in net cash 
Change in cash and cash equivalents in the reporting period                    175,906                             (254,026) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting period             611,513                               865,539 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period                    787,419                                 611,513 
 
 
 
Reconciliation of net income to net cash flow 
from operating activities 
 
Net increase (expenditure) for the reporting period 
(as per the statement of financial activities)                                                      1,248,852                              (192,557) 
Adjustments for: 
Depreciation charges                                                                                             15,951                                  10,251 
Gains on investments                                                                                     (1,134,215)                             (168,230) 
Dividends and interest from investments                                                      (187,026)                             (204,554) 
(Increase)/decrease in debtors                                                                          (49,440)                             (190,290) 
Increase/(decrease) in creditors                                                                           4,542                                 316,177 
Net cash used in operating activities                                                            (101,336)                             (429,203) 
 
 
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash at bank and in hand                                                                                  674,286                                530,661 
Cash held for investment                                                                                    113,133                                 80,852 
Total cash and cash equivalents                                                                      787,419                                 611,513 
 
 
The Association does not hold any external debt, for that reason a separate analysis of the change in net debt has 
not been prepared.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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The principal accounting policies adopted, judgements 
and key sources of estimation uncertainty in the 
preparation of the financial statements are laid out 
below. 

These financial statements have been prepared for  
the year to 31 December 2021 under the historical  
cost convention with items recognised at cost or 
transaction value unless otherwise stated in the  
relevant accounting policies below or in the notes.  
They have been prepared in accordance with Account-
ing and Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recom-
mended Practice applicable to charities preparing their 
accounts in accordance with the Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the United Kingdom and Republic 
of Ireland (Charities SORP FRS 102), the Financial  
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic  
of Ireland (FRS 102) and the Companies Act 2006. The 
charity constitutes a public benefit entity as defined  
by FRS 102. The financial statements are presented in 
sterling and are rounded to the nearest pound. 

Preparation of the financial statements requires the 
trustees and management to make significant judge-
ments and estimates. The full impact of the global 
coronavirus pandemic on future accounting periods is 
unknown. It is therefore not currently possible to  
evaluate all the potential implications for the charity’s 
activities, beneficiaries, funders, suppliers and the 
wider economy. Estimates used in the accounts,  
particularly with respect to the value of listed 
investments and investment properties (see Note 6)  
are subject to a greater degree of uncertainty and  
volatility. As set out in these accounting policies under 
‘going concern’, the trustees have considered the  
impact of the pandemic on the charity and have  
concluded that although there may be some negative 
consequences, it is appropriate for the charity to  
continue to prepare its accounts on the going concern 
basis. The items in the financial statements where 
these judgements and estimates have been made  
include: 
   l determining the basis for allocating 
       support costs; 
   l estimating the useful economic life of tangible  
       fixed assets; and 
   l determining the valuation of the investment  
       property. 

The trustees have assessed whether the use of the 
going concern assumption is appropriate in preparing 
these financial statements. The trustees have made 
this assessment in respect of a period of one year 
from the date of approval of these accounts. The 
trustees of the charity have concluded that there  
are no material uncertainties related to events or  
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the  
ability of the charity to continue as a going concern. 
The trustees are of the opinion that the charity will 
have sufficient resources to meet its liabilities as they 
fall due. The most significant areas of judgement that 
affect items in the financial statements are detailed 
above. With regard to the next accounting period, the 
year ending 31 December 2022, the most significant 
areas that affect the carrying value of the assets held 
by the charity are the level of investment return and 
the performance of the investment markets (see the 
Investment policy and the performance and the  
Statement of Risk sections of this Annual Report 2021 
of The Almshouse Association for more information). 

General unrestricted funds are available for use at the 
discretion of the Executive Committee in furtherance  
of the general objectives of the Association. 
 
Designated unrestricted funds relate to amounts  
set aside by the board within unrestricted funds  
for a particular purpose. Details of these designated  
reserves are set out in the financial statements. 
 
Restricted funds are funds subject to restrictive  
conditions imposed by donors or by the nature of  
the appeal. The purpose and use of the restricted  
funds are set out in the financial statements. 
 
Endowment funds are permanent capital funds  
where there is no power to convert into income.  
The income from them is classified as investment 
income, and as unrestricted or restricted depending 
upon the terms of the endowment. 

Income is recognised in the period in which the  
charity has entitlement to the income and the amount 
can be measured reliably and it is probable that the  
income will be received. Income is deferred only when 
the charity has to fulfil conditions before becoming  
entitled to it or where the donor or funder has  

1 Accounting policies

Basis of preparation 

Assessment of going concern 

Critical accounting estimates and areas of 
judgement 

Fund accounting 

Income recognition 



ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (continued)
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specified that the income is to be expended in a  
future accounting period. 
 
Income comprises donations and legacies, 
subscriptions, income from seminars, income  
from the sale of publications, interest and investment 
income and sundry income. 
 
Donations are recognised when the charity has  
confirmation of both the amount and settlement 
date. In the event of donations pledged but not  
received, the amount is accrued for where the  
receipt is considered probable. In the event that a  
donation is subject to conditions that require a level 
of performance before the charity is entitled to the 
funds, the income is deferred and not recognised  
until either those conditions are fully met, or the  
fulfilment of those conditions is wholly within the 
control of the charity and it is probable that those 
conditions will be fulfilled in the reporting period. 
 
In accordance with the Charities SORP FRS 102  
volunteer time is not recognised. 
 
Legacies are included in the statement of financial 
activities when the charity is entitled to the legacy, 
the executors have established that there are  
sufficient surplus assets in the estate to pay the 
legacy, and any conditions attached to the legacy  
are within the control of the charity. 
 
Income from other charitable activities, including 
membership, seminars and publications, is recognised 
to the extent that it is probable that the economic 
benefits will flow to the charity and the revenue can 
be measured reliably. It is measured at the fair value 
of the consideration received or receivable, excluding 
any discounts or rebates. 
 
Dividends are recognised once the dividend has been 
declared and notification has been received of the  
dividend due. 
 
Interest on funds held on deposit is included when  
receivable and the amount can be measured reliably 
by the charity; this is normally upon notification of 
the interest paid or payable by the bank. 
 
 

Liabilities are recognised as expenditure as soon as 
there is a legal or constructive obligation committing 
the charity to make a payment to a third party, it is 
probable that a transfer of economic benefits will be 
required in settlement and the amount of the  
obligation can be measured reliably. 
 
Expenditure comprises the following: 
   l The cost of raising funds includes the salaries,  
       direct costs and overheads associated with  
       generating voluntary income. 
   l The costs of charitable activities comprise  
       expenditure on the charity’s primary charitable  
       purposes as described in the trustees’ report. 
 
Grants payable are included in full in the statement  
of financial activities when approved and when  
the recipient has either received the funds or been  
informed of the decision to make the grant and has 
satisfied all related conditions. 

Support costs represent indirect charitable expendi-
ture. In order to carry out the primary purposes of the 
charity it is necessary to provide support in the form 
of personnel development, financial procedures,  
provision of office services and equipment and a  
suitable working environment. 
 
Governance costs comprise the costs involving the 
public accountability of the charity (including audit 
costs) and costs in respect to its compliance with 
regulation and good practice. 
 
Support costs and governance costs are apportioned 
on the basis of time spent by individual staff  
members on these activities. 

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost, less  
depreciation. Depreciation is provided on all tangible 
fixed assets, other than freehold land, at rates  
calculated to write off the cost, less estimated  
residual value, of such assets on a straight line basis 
over their expected useful life, as follows: 
   - Freehold buildings - 50 years   
   - Computers - 5 years 
   - Furniture and equipment - 7 years 

Expenditure and the basis for apportioning 
costs 

Allocation of support and governance costs 

Tangible fixed assets and depreciation 
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Listed investments are a form of basic financial  
instrument and are initially recognised at their  
transaction value and subsequently measured at  
their fair value as at the balance sheet date using  
the closing quoted market price. Realised and  
unrealised gains (or losses) are credited (or debited)  
to the statement of financial activities in the year  
in which they arise. 
 
The charity does not acquire put options, derivatives 
or other complex financial instruments. 
 
As noted above, the main form of financial risk faced 
by the charity is that of volatility in equity markets 
and investment markets due to wider economic  
conditions, the attitude of investors to investment 
risk, and changes in sentiment concerning equities 
and within particular sectors or sub sectors. 

The investment property is held for the long-term 
rental yields and is not occupied by the Association. 
Investment Properties are initially measured as cost, 
including related transaction costs and where  
applicable, borrowing costs. After initial recognition, 
investment properties are carried at fair value. Fair 
value, which has been estimated by the Trustees,  
is based on recent market prices and takes into  
account rental income and current market conditions. 
The valuation forms the basis for the carrying 
amount in the financial statements. Changes in fair 
values are recorded in the Statement of Financial  
Activities in the year in which they arise. 
 
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised to the asset’s 
carrying amount only when it is probable that future 
economic benefits associated with the expenditure 
will flow to the Association and the rest of the item 
can be measured reliably. All other repairs and  
maintenance costs are expensed when incurred. 

Debtors are recognised at the settlement amount, 
less any provision for non-recoverability. They have 
been discounted to the present value of the future 
cash receipt where such discounting is material, with 
the exception of loans to member charities. As these 
loans fall within the exemption from discounting to 
present value available to public benefit entities, 
these loans are held at the settlement amount.  

Cash at bank and in hand represents such accounts 
and instruments that are available on demand or 
have a maturity of less than three months from the 
date of acquisition. Deposits for more than three 
months but less than one year are disclosed as short 
term deposits. 

Creditors and provisions are recognised when there  
is an obligation at the balance sheet date as a  
result of a past event, it is probable that a transfer  
of economic benefit will be required in settlement, 
and the amount of the settlement can be estimated  
reliably. Creditors and provisions are recognised at  
the amount the charity anticipates it will pay to  
settle the debt. They have been discounted to the  
present value of the future cash payment where 
such discounting is material. 

The Association is not registered for VAT purposes 
and all costs and expenditure incurred are inclusive 
of VAT, unless otherwise indicated.  

The Association contributes to defined contribution 
schemes for most current employees. Contributions 
are recognised in the statement of financial activities 
when they fall due. 

No value is placed on stocks of books and publica-
tions held for distribution or resale. The cost is  
written off in the year of purchase and sales are  
included in the year of receipt. 

As a charity, the Association is exempt from taxation 
of income and gains falling within section 505 of the 
Taxes Act 1988 or section 256 of the Taxation of 
Chargeable Gains Act 1992 to the extent that they 
are applied to its charitable purposes. No tax charge 
has arisen during the year.

Listed investments Cash at bank 

Creditors 

Value Added Tax 

Pensions 

Stocks 

Tax 

Investment properties 

Debtors 
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2 Income and endowments from: 
 
Year ended 31 December 2021 
                                                                 Unrestricted               Restricted              Endowment                             Total
                                                                            funds                       funds                         funds                             2021 
Gifts, donations and legacies                                  £                              £                                 £                                   £ 
Public fundraising                                            104,257                     126,184                                  -                         230,441 
Members’ donations                                           10,178                    248,760                                  -                        258,938 
Associate members’ subscriptions                   2,050                               -                                  -                            2,050 
Other voluntary income                                    14,006                               -                            3,014                           17,020 
                                                                           130,491                    374,944                           3,014                        508,449 
Charitable activities 
Members’ subscriptions                                  326,451                               -                                  -                         326,451 
Panel members’ subscriptions                         13,212                               -                                  -                           13,212 
Services to member charities                         23,568                               -                                  -                          23,568 
Conference and seminar fees                              900                               -                                  -                               900 
Sales of Gazettes and publications                 22,738                               -                                  -                          22,738 
Rent receivable                                                    11,702                               -                                  -                            11,702 
                                                                           398,571                               -                                  -                         398,571 
Investments 
Dividends and distributions receivable             95,145                       91,814                                  -                         186,959 
Interest receivable                                                    40                             27                                  -                                 67 
                                                                            95,185                       91,841                                  -                         187,026 
 
 
Year ended 31 December 2020                             
                                                                 Unrestricted               Restricted              Endowment                             Total 
                                                                            funds                       funds                         funds                            2020 
Gifts, donations and legacies                                  £                              £                                 £                                   £ 
Public fundraising                                             106,190                       15,500                                  -                         121,690 
Members’ donations                                          10,965                               -                                  -                           10,965 
Associate members’ subscriptions                    1,870                               -                                  -                             1,870 
Other voluntary income                                    20,453                               -                            3,321                           23,774
                                                                           139,478                       15,500                            3,321                         158,299 
Charitable activities 
Members’ subscriptions                                  327,029                               -                                  -                         327,029 
Panel members’ subscriptions                          11,967                               -                                  -                            11,967 
Services to member charities                         25,482                               -                                  -                          25,482 
Conference and seminar fees                            4,100                               -                                  -                             4,100 
Sales of Gazettes and publications                  23,274                               -                                  -                           23,274 
Rent receivable                                                   13,692                               -                                  -                           13,692 
                                                                          405,544                               -                                  -                        405,544 
Investments 
Dividends and distributions receivable          102,052                      101,771                                  -                        203,823 
Interest receivable                                                  433                           298                                  -                                731 
                                                                          102,485                    102,069                                  -                        204,554



3 Expenditure on: 
                                                     Unrestricted        Restricted             Total            Unrestricted       Restricted          Total
                                                                funds               funds             2021                       funds              funds          2020 
                                                                        £                       £                   £                               £                      £                £  
Raising funds 
Staff costs (Note 11)                                 4,911               21,307           26,218                       31,636              15,487         47,123 
Other direct costs                                   21,801                 8,939           30,740                       26,271                9,564        35,835 
Investment management  
    and custody fees                               18,143               14,858           33,001                       13,857               11,219        25,076 
Support costs (Note 4)                           78,416                        -           78,416                       45,192                       -         45,192 
                                                               123,271                45,104         168,375                     116,956             36,270      153,226 
Charitable activities 
Grants made                                                   -               77,220           77,220                               -           338,005      338,005 
Staff costs (Note 11)                            253,897                        -         253,897                    230,380                       -      230,380 
Other direct costs                                 65,363               36,834          102,197                       51,736             22,825         74,561 
Support costs (Note 4)                         377,720                        -         377,720                     333,012                       -       333,012 
                                                             696,980              114,054          811,034                      615,128           360,830      975,958 
 
4 Support costs 
 
Total support costs and their allocation (see Note 1) were 
                                                                  Staff                Other             Total                         Staff               Other          Total 
                                                                 costs                costs             2021                       costs               costs          2020 
                                                                        £                       £                   £                               £                      £                £ 
Raising funds                                         46,446               31,970           78,416                       31,290              13,902         45,192 
Charitable activities                            223,725             153,995         377,720                     230,573            102,439       333,012 
                                                                270,171             185,965         456,136                     261,863             116,341      378,204 
 
                                                                                                                                                                          2021          2020 
The above costs include:                                                                                                                                      £                £ 
Depreciation                                                                                                                                                    15,951         10,251 
Legal and professional costs                                                                                                                       23,226          8,226 
Auditor’s remuneration, including expenses and VAT, for auditing the financial statements: 
    Current year                                                                                                                                              10,580        10,500 
    Prior year under accrual                                                                                                                                   -          4,593 
 
 
5 Tangible fixed assets                                                                                     Freehold    Furniture & 
                                                                                                                                           property     equipment          Total 
Cost                                                                                                                                                £                      £                £ 
At 1 January 2021                                                                                                                  118,372            130,083      248,455 
Additions                                                                                                                                         -                1,256          1,256 
At 31 December 2021                                                                                                           118,372             131,339        249,711 

Depreciation 
At 1 January 2021                                                                                                                  111,569             89,830      201,399 
Charge for the year                                                                                                                 4,311               11,640         15,951 
At 31 December 2021                                                                                                           115,880             101,470       217,350 

Net book values 
At 31 December 2020                                                                                                              6,803             40,253        47,056 
At 31 December 2021                                                                                                             2,492             29,869         32,361 
 
The Executive Committee have estimated that the freehold property has a current market value of not less than 
£700,000, taking into account informal professional advice and prevailing local market conditions.
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6 Investments                                                                                                                                                     
                                                                                                                                  2021                                   2020 
                                                                                                                                       £                                         £ 
Investments listed on a recognised stock exchange 
Market value on 1 January                                                                              7,484,035                             7,321,233 
Add: Additions at cost                                                                                         516,371                             1,250,156 
Less: Disposal proceeds                                                                                   (581,653)                           (1,255,584) 
Net gain on revaluation                                                                                    1,034,215                               168,230 
Market value at 31 December                                                                         8,452,968                            7,484,035 
 
Cash and settlements pending  
held as part of the investment portfolio                                                          113,133                                 80,852  
                                                                                                                            8,566,101                             7,564,887 
 
Investment Property at Valuation                                                                   700,000                               600,000 
 
Investments held                                                                                              9,266,101                             8,164,887 
 
Listed investments at cost                                                                             6,677,441                            6,596,299 
 
Listed investments (worldwide) 
Equities                                                                                                             4,762,270                             4,029,115 
Alternatives                                                                                                          807,174                               615,880 
Diversified Investment Funds (M&G Charity Multi Asset Fund)                   2,277,969                            2,089,785 
Fixed Income                                                                                                       605,555                               749,255 
Cash held by brokers for investment                                                                 113,133                                 80,852 
                                                                                                                            8,566,101                             7,564,887 
 
 
The investment property is a dwelling house, which forms part of the Association’s property at Billingbear Lodge 
and is let on a long-term basis. The open market value for investment purposes has been estimated by the trustees. 
 
At 31 December 2021, the investment portfolio included the following investments which represent a material  
proportion of the portfolio as a whole: 
                                                                                                                   Market value                    % of portfolio  
                                                                                                                                       £ 
Diversified Investment Funds (M&G Charity Multi Asset Fund)                   2,277,969                                24.58% 
Waverton Sterling Bond Fund 'A' Inc                                                                 302,760                                  3.27% 
Waverton Asia Pacific Fund 'A'                                                                          278,226                                  3.00% 
Waverton Global Strategic Bond Fund 'A' Inc                                                   242,520                                  2.62% 
Home Depot Inc                                                                                                   205,291                                  2.22% 
 
At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Association was the beneficial holder of the whole of the issued shared capital (£1) 
of Billingbear Enterprises Limited, a dormant company.
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7 Other Debtors 
                                                                                                                                                                  2021                  2020 
                                                                                                                                                                       £                         £ 
Debtors                                                                                                                                                299,216              259,689 
Prepayments and accrued income                                                                                                    84,826                 74,913  
                                                                                                                                                            384,042              334,602 
 
8 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year                                                2021                  2020 
                                                                                                                                                                       £                         £ 
Trade creditors                                                                                                                                        4,103                 10,682 
Accruals and deferred income                                                                                                           415,716               391,999 
Tax and Social Security                                                                                                                                 -                 12,596 
                                                                                                                                                              419,819               415,277 
 
9 Funds 
 
Year ended 31 December 2021                          Balance at       Income      Expenditure      Investment        Balance at 
                                                                                1 January                                                               gains     31 December
                                                                                         2021                                                 and transfers                   2021  
                                                                                              £                  £                        £                        £                         £ 
Endowment funds 
CJ and EJ Melbourne Fund                                         342,153            3,014                         -               44,846               390,013 
St John's Housing Association Fund                        1,117,794                   -                         -               147,941            1,265,735 
The Almshouse Christmas Fund                             330,456                   -                         -                43,735                374,191 
                                                                                  1,790,403            3,014                         -             236,522           2,029,939 
Restricted funds 
Held for almshouse improvement 
    and support generally: 
The Almshouse Association                                  2,483,997       384,305               (48,511)              114,529           2,934,320 
The Thomas Groves Trust for Almshouses            373,203                  3                   (485)                         -                372,721 
                                                                                 2,857,200       384,308              (48,996)              114,529             3,307,041 
Held for specified recipients 
    or almshouse groups                                            117,560                   -                         -                         -                117,560 
The Edward Kemp Almshouse Trust                    2,473,250          57,778              (63,500)              309,414            2,776,942 
The Jubilee Cottages Trust                                         92,625                   -                   (300)                         -                92,325 
The Craymer London Trust                                      343,065            8,507                   (520)               45,558               396,610 
The Alfred Wilson Charity for Almshouses Trust      133,947                   -              (35,480)                         -                98,467 
The Almshouse Christmas Fund                                 3,490             8,167              (10,062)                         -                   1,595 
The Mary Joan Hawley Fund                                    333,227           8,025                   (300)               42,975              383,927 
                                                                                 6,354,364       466,785              (159,158)              512,476             7,174,467 
 
Unrestricted funds 
General funds                                                             517,527       624,247             (699,158)             (64,526)              378,090 
Designated funds:                                                                   
Investment reserve                                                1,894,948                   -                         -              449,743            2,344,691 
Terminal reserve                                                       370,000                   -                         -                         -              370,000 
Strategic plan reserve                                               604,165                   -             (121,093)                         -               483,072 
                                                                                 3,386,640       624,247            (820,251)              385,217            3,575,853 
Total funds                                                              11,531,407     1,094,046            (979,409)            1,134,215          12,780,259
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9 Funds (continued) 
 
Year ended 31 December 2020                   Balance at        Income     Expenditure       Investment          Balance at 
                                                                                1 January                                                        gains and      31 December 
                                                                                        2020                                                          transfers                    2020 
                                                                                              £                  £                        £                         £                          £ 
Endowment funds 
CJ and EJ Melbourne Fund                                         327,919             3,321                        -                 10,913                342,153 
St John’s Housing Association Fund                       1,081,791                   -                         -                36,003                1,117,794 
The Almshouse Christmas Fund                              319,813                   -                         -                 10,643                330,456 
                                                                                  1,729,523             3,321                        -                 57,559              1,790,403 
 
Restricted funds 
Held for almshouse improvement 
    and support generally: 
The Almshouse Association                                   2,793,143           26,016             (347,331)                  12,169             2,483,997 
The Thomas Groves Trust for Almshouses            373,640                 48                  (485)                         -                373,203 
                                                                                  3,166,783          26,064             (347,816)                  12,169             2,857,200 
Held for specified recipients  
    or almshouse groups                                            117,560                   -                         -                         -                 117,560 
The Edward Kemp Almshouse Trust                    2,337,347          63,524               (2,920)                75,299             2,473,250 
The Jubilee Cottages Trust                                         92,925                   -                  (300)                         -                 92,625 
The Craymer London Trust                                       333,133            9,354              (10,509)                  11,087               343,065 
The Alfred Wilson Charity for Almshouses Trust    159,417                   -              (25,470)                         -                 133,947 
The Almshouse Christmas Fund                                  3,471            9,803                (9,784)                         -                    3,490 
The Mary Joan Hawley Fund                                    314,246            8,823                  (300)                 10,458                333,227
                                                                                 6,524,882         117,568            (397,099)               109,013             6,354,364 
Unrestricted funds 
General funds                                                             521,563         647,507            (651,543)                         -                 517,527 
Designated funds                                                                    
Investment reserve                                                 1,893,290                   -                         -                   1,658             1,894,948 
Terminal reserve                                                       370,000                   -                         -                         -                370,000 
Strategic plan reserve                                              684,706                   -              (80,541)                         -                604,165
                                                                                 3,469,559         647,507           (732,084)                   1,658             3,386,640 
Total funds                                                             11,723,964        768,396           (1,129,183)               168,230             11,531,407 
 
 
Endowment funds 
 
The income of the CJ and EJ Melbourne Endowment Fund may be used for any purposes that are “exclusively  
charitable”, and is therefore classified as unrestricted. 
 
The income of The Almshouse Christmas Fund is to be used to provide gifts at Christmas to residents of the 
almshouses of member charities, and unspent income is classified as a restricted fund. 
 
The income of the St John’s Housing Association Endowment Fund may be used for any purposes that are consistent 
with the objects of the donor, namely the accommodation and support of older people.

NOTES TO THE F INANCIAL STATEMENTS
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9 Funds (continued) 
 
Restricted funds 
 
The restricted funds (other than unspent income of the Christmas Fund) comprise funds held for 
almshouse improvements. Some of these funds are held for specified recipients or almshouse groups 
specified by the donor, as follows: 
 
The Thomas Groves Trust for Almshouses is held for the benefit of almshouses and their occupants. 
 
The Edward Kemp Almshouse Trust is held for the relief of persons in hardship throughout the country  
with a particular preference for those in Hertford, under the amended Scheme terms agreed by the 
Charity Commissioners in June 2014. 
 
The Jubilee Cottages Trust is held for the relief of poverty in the County of Suffolk, in particular by  
building or repairing almshouses, under the terms of a Scheme finalised by the Charity Commissioners  
in April 2007. 
 
The Craymer London Trust is held for the building or repairing of almshouses in Wiltshire, under the 
terms of the will of Mary Evelyn London dated 28 August 1992. 
 
The Alfred Wilson Charity for Almshouses Trust is held for the relief of poverty in the counties of  
Lancashire and West Yorkshire, in particular by building or repairing almshouses, under the terms  
of a Scheme finalised by the Charity Commissioners in December 2008. 
 
The Mary Joan Hawley Fund is held for the benefit of almshouse charities connected with the Church of 
England. 
 
Unrestricted funds 
 
Unrestricted funds are available for any purpose appropriate to the Association’s charitable objects.  
The Board has designated a sum of £2,344,691 to be set aside within unrestricted funds for investment 
to generate dividend income to subsidise member subscriptions, a sum of £370,000 to cover the cost of 
any liabilities arising in the event of the termination of activities and a sum of £483,072 as a Strategic 
plan reserve.
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10 Analysis of net assets by fund 
 
Year ended 31 December 2021                                  
 
                                                                                                                              Restricted         Endowment                Total 
                                                                             General       Designated                 funds                    funds              funds 
                                                                                        £                        £                         £                            £                      £ 
Tangible fixed assets                                             32,361                         -                         -                             -              32,361 
Investments                                                           212,211             3,197,763           3,832,524               2,023,603          9,266,101 
Cash and deposits                                               249,303                         -              424,983                             -            674,286 
Loans to member charities (see below)                      -                         -           2,843,288                             -         2,843,288 
Other current assets  
    (excluding loans), less liabilities                    (115,785)                         -                 73,672                      6,336            (35,777) 
                                                                              378,090             3,197,763             7,174,467               2,029,939       12,780,259 
 
Unrealised gains included above                          57,930              872,934            1,046,212                  552,408         2,529,484 
 
Year ended 31 December 2020 
                                                                                                                              Restricted         Endowment                Total 
                                                                             General       Designated                 funds                    funds              funds 
                                                                                        £                        £                         £                            £                      £ 
Tangible fixed assets                                            47,056                         -                         -                             -              47,056 
Investments                                                           124,117            2,869,113            3,384,574                1,787,083          8,164,887 
Cash and deposits                                               397,496                         -                133,165                             -            530,661 
Loans to member charities (see below)                      -                         -            2,869,478                             -         2,869,478 
Other current assets  
    (excluding loans), less liabilities                      (51,142)                         -              (32,853)                      3,320            (80,675) 
                                                                               517,527            2,869,113           6,354,364                1,790,403         11,531,407 
 
Unrealised gains included above                         22,945              530,399              625,689                  330,369         1,509,402 
 
 
The total unrealised gains as at 31 December 2021 
constitute movements on revaluation and are as follows:                                                                     2021                2020 
                                                                                                                                                                            £                      £ 
Unrealised gains included above: 
On investments                                                                                                                                     1,888,670           968,588 
On investment property                                                                                                                          640,814            540,814 
Total unrealised gains at 31 December                                                                                              2,529,484         1,509,402 
 
Reconciliation of movements in unrealised gains 
Unrealised gains at 1 January                                                                                                              1,509,402          1,210,439 
Less: in respect to disposals in the year                                                                                              (114,133)            130,733 
                                                                                                                                                               1,395,269           1,341,172 
Add: net gains arising on revaluation during the year                                                                        1,134,215            168,230 
Total unrealised gains at 31 December                                                                                             2,529,484         1,509,402

Unrestricted funds

Unrestricted funds



10 Analysis of net assets by fund (continued)                   
 
Loans to member charities by:                          The            The Thomas                 The Edward          Other              Total 
                                                                 Almshouse           Groves Trust                            Kemp         Funds                        
                                                                Association     for Almshouses      Almshouses Trust 
                                                                                   £                               £                                   £                 £                    £ 
At 1 January 2021                                          2,598,137                      114,556                           77,248         79,537       2,869,478 
Loans made                                                    275,456                                -                          219,476                  -          494,932 
Loans repaid                                                 (462,952)                      (31,710)                           (8,925)        (17,535)         (521,122) 
At 31 December 2021                                    2,410,641                      82,846                          287,799         62,002       2,843,288 
 
Due within one year                                      432,398                      33,286                           24,360          17,535           507,579 
 
Commitments 
The Association was, at 31 December 2021, committed to make available to the trustees of member almshouse  
charities loans of £723,244 (2020: £495,607). 
 
 
11 Employees and employee costs                                                                                        2021              2020
                                                                                                                                                                              £                    £ 
Salaries                                                                                                                                                      458,734          455,007 
Social security costs                                                                                                                                   41,630            40,855 
Employer's pension contributions                                                                                                             40,547            38,200
                                                                                                                                                                     540,911          534,062 
 
Full-time equivalent number of employees                                                                                                  9.8                10.2 
 
 
The above costs were allocated to: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
An average of 13 (2020: 13) persons were employed during the year. One had remuneration in the range £90,000 to 
£100,000 (2020: £80,000 to £90,000 one) in the year, and the Association contributed £9,020 (2020: £8,843) towards a 
pension scheme for that employee. The trustees do not receive any remuneration. 
 
The total cost of employing key management in the period amounted to £299,033 (2020: £311,952). 
Travel expenses for meetings of £2,035 (2020: £141) were reimbursed to ten (2020: two) trustees. 
 
Pension fund contributions 
All current employees are members of defined contribution schemes and contributions are accounted for when paid.
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       Number                            Employee costs
                                                                                                                     2021               2020                    2021              2020 
                                                                                                                                                                              £                    £ 
Raising funds                                                                                                 0.5                   0.9                 26,218             47,123 
Costs of charitable activities                                                                       4.6                   4.4               253,897          230,380 
Support costs                                                                                                4.7                   4.9               260,796          256,559 
                                                                                                                        9.8                 10.2                540,911          534,062



12 - Related Parties 
 
During 2021, four (2020: five) trustees of the Association were also trustees of The Leonard Hackett Memorial Trust, 
which acted as sole trustee of one (2020: three) member Almshouse Charities. These have loans and other advances 
from the Association, as follows: 
                                                                                                                                                               2021                    2020 
                                                                                                                                                                    £                           £ 
The Charity of Edmund Sawyer (228798)                                                                                        27,096                  28,928 
 
 
The names of the directors of The Leonard Hackett Memorial Trust, who are all also members of the Executive  
Committee, are listed in that company’s Directors’ Report. 
 
At the end of the year The Leonard Hackett Memorial Trust had an outstanding advance of £21,073 (2020: £18,240). 
 
The Association provided management services to The Leonard Hackett Memorial Trust and The Charity of Edmund 
Sawyer. During the year the Association charged £2,656 (2020: £2,850) to these charities towards its administration 
costs. 
 
Members of the Board of Trustees are connected with member almshouse charities but do not participate in decisions 
concerning those charities. 
 
During the year, the Association paid £2,414 in respect of Charity Trustee Assurance (2020: £2,147). 
 
Mrs M A Stewart is a trustee of Frances Darlington Charity which had an interest free loan from the Association 
amounting to £nil (2020: £5,250). 
 
Mr A Sedgwick is a trustee of the Lady Anne Windsor Charity which has an interest free loan from the Association 
amounting to £18,900 (2020: £23,100).

NOTES TO THE F INANCIAL STATEMENTS
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13  Comparative Statement of Financial Activities (SOFA) 
 
Statement of Financial Activities (SOFA) for year ended 31 December 2020, 
incorporating an Income and Expenditure Account 
 
                                                                          Notes           Unrestricted           Restricted          Endowment              Total 
                                                                                                          funds                  funds                     funds              2020 
                                                                                                                  £                          £                            £                    £ 
Income and endowments from:                           2 
    Gifts, donations and legacies                                                   139,478                  15,500                       3,321          158,299 
    Charitable activities                                                                  405,544                           -                             -          405,544 
    Investments                                                                               102,485                102,069                             -          204,554 
Total                                                                                                 647,507                 117,569                       3,321          768,397 
 
Expenditure on:                                                        3 
    Raising funds                                                                             116,956                  36,270                             -           153,226 
    Charitable activities                                                                   615,128                360,830                             -          975,958 
Total                                                                                                732,084                 397,100                             -          1,129,184 
 
Net (expenditure)/income 
    before investment (losses)/gains                                            (84,577)               (279,531)                       3,321        (360,787) 
 
Net (losses)/gains on investments                        6                        1,658                 109,013                     57,559          168,230 
 
Net movement in funds                                                                (82,919)               (170,518)                    60,880         (192,557) 
 
Reconciliation of funds 
Total fund balances brought forward at 1 January                 3,469,559             6,524,882                1,729,523       11,723,964 
 
Fund balances carried 
forward at 31 December                                         9                 3,386,640             6,354,364                1,790,403       11,531,407 



AUDITOR’S REPORT
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We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK) and applicable law. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further  
described in the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit  
of the financial statements section of our report. We are 
independent of the charitable company in accordance 
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our 
audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the 
FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these  
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. 

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded 
that the trustees’ use of the going concern basis of  
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements 
is appropriate.  
 
Based on the work we have performed, we have not 
identified any material uncertainties relating to events  
or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast  
significant doubt on the charitable company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern for a period of at least 
twelve months from when the financial statements  
are authorised for issue. Our responsibilities and the  
responsibilities of the trustees with respect to going  
concern are described in the relevant sections of this  
report. 

The other information comprises the information included 
in the annual report and financial statements, other than 
the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.  
 
The trustees are responsible for the other information 
contained within the annual report and financial  
statements. Our opinion on the financial statements does 
not cover the other information and, except to the extent 
otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not  
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
Our responsibility is to read the other information and,  

in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial statements,  
or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we  
identify such material inconsistencies or apparent  
material misstatements, we are required to determine 
whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the 
financial statements themselves. If, based on the work 
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required 
to report that fact. 
 
We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 
 
 
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the 
course of the audit: 
   l  the information given in the trustees’ report, which 
        is also the directors’ report for the purposes of  
        company law, for the financial year for which the  
        financial statements are prepared is consistent  
        with the financial statements; and 
   l  the trustees’ report, which is also the directors’  
        report for the purposes of company law, has been  
        prepared in accordance with applicable legal  
        requirements. 

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the 
charitable company and its environment obtained in the 
course of the audit, we have not identified material  
misstatements in the trustees’ report. We have nothing 
to report in respect of the following matters in relation to 
which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to 
you if, in our opinion: 
   l adequate accounting records have not been kept,  
        or returns adequate for our audit have not been  
        received from branches not visited by us; or 
   l the financial statements are not in agreement  
        with the accounting records and returns; or 
   l certain disclosures of trustees’ remuneration  
        specified by law are not made; or 

Independent auditor’s report to the members of The Almshouse Association

We have audited the financial statements of The Almshouse Association (the ‘charitable company’) for the  
year ended 31 December 2021 which comprise the statement of financial activities, the balance sheet, and 
statement of cash flows, the principal accounting policies and the notes to the financial statements.  
The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United  
Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 ‘The Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland’ (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements: l give a true and fair view of the state of the charitable company’s  
affairs as at 31 December 2021 and of its income and expenditure for the year then ended; l have been properly 
prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and l have been prepared 
in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Opinion

Basis for opinion

Conclusions relating to going concern
Opinions on other matters prescribed by the 
Companies Act 2006

Matters on which we are required to report by 
exception

Other information
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   l we have not received all the information and  
        explanations we require for our audit; or 
   l  the trustees were not entitled to prepare the  
        financial statements in accordance with the 
        small companies regime and take advantage 
        of the small companies’ exemptions in preparing 
        the trustees’ report and from the requirement to  
        prepare a strategic report. 

As explained more fully in the trustees’ responsibilities 
statement, the trustees (who are also the directors of 
the charitable company for the purposes of company 
law) are responsible for the preparation of the financial 
statements and for being satisfied that they give a true 
and fair view, and for such internal control as the 
trustees determine is necessary to enable the prepara-
tion of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the trustees are  
responsible for assessing the charitable company’s  
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as  
applicable, matters related to going concern and using  
the going concern basis of accounting unless the 
trustees either intend to liquidate the charitable  
company or to cease operations, or have no realistic  
alternative but to do so. 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes  
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of  
assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a  
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
 
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non- 
compliance with laws and regulations. We design  
procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined  
above, to detect material misstatements in respect of  
irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our  
procedures are capable of detecting irregularities,  
including fraud is detailed below: 
 
We identified areas of laws and regulations that could 
reasonably be expected to have a material effect on the 
financial statements for charitable companies operating 
within this sector, through our own experience as well as 
through discussion with management and those 
charged with governance and inspection of regulatory 
and legal correspondence. We reviewed policies and  
procedures regarding compliance with laws and  

regulation and remained alert throughout our audit to any 
indications of non-compliance, with areas of highest risk  
communicated to all members of the audit team. 
 
The charitable company is subject to laws and 
regulations directly affecting the financial statements  
including financial reporting legislation and taxation 
legislation which we assessed compliance with as part 
of our review of related financial statement items. This 
includes the Charities Act 2011 and Companies Act 2006 
as referenced above. Other laws and regulations of  
which compliance was considered higher risk (as non-
compliance could lead to material misstatement of the 
financial statements) included anti-bribery regulations, 
employment law, health and safety legislation and data 
protection regulations. 
 
We considered areas which could be most susceptible  
to fraud or misstatement, which included the use of  
journals and suspense accounts, management override  
of controls and our audit work has been performed to  
ensure that these areas have been tested on a sample 
basis, including the use of data analytics to review for 
unusual transactions. 
 
Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is 
an unavoidable risk that we may not have detected a  
material misstatement within the financial statements 
while performing our audit in accordance with applicable 
audit standards. Irregularities may involve a collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 
override of internal controls. We are not responsible for 
preventing non-compliance and cannot be expected to 
detect non-compliance with all laws and regulations. 
 
A further description of our responsibilities is available  
on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at 
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities  
This description forms part of our auditor’s report. 
 
 
This report is made solely to the charitable company’s 
members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of 
Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has 
been undertaken so that we might state to the charitable 
company’s members those matters we are required to 
state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other  
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do  
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than 
the charitable company and the charitable company’s 
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report,  
or for the opinions we have formed. 

Responsibilities of trustees

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the  
financial statements

Use of our report

Edward Finch (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
For and on behalf of Buzzacott LLP, Statutory Auditor 

130 Wood Street, London EC2V 6DL



William and Julia E Chafyn-Grove 
Charity, Zeals Almshouses, Wiltshire

A restoration and building programme on three 
out of the charity’s four almshouses and the 
building of a fifth almshouse.  

The upgrade is as environmentally friendly as possible, 
creating comfortable and appealing homes.

Hurst United Charities, Wokingham, Berkshire

In 2017, the charity 
decided that three 
apartments could be 

comfortably fitted in the 
space available at Lodge 
Close. The almshouses are 
built to the latest standards 
and complement the  
existing almshouses.

The Charity of Elizabeth Wadsworth, 
Calderdale, West Yorkshire

This project was 
to refurbish the 

Grade II listed  
railings and reopen the 

original right-of-way. 
 Initially, part of the 

stone wall at the  
footpath entrance had 

to be demolished and a 
gap created for the  

new gate. The finished 
railings and gate  
complement the 

almshouses beautifully.
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Each year the Association invites members to showcase their almshouse projects and 
achievements by applying for one of our awards. With the outbreak of coronavirus at the 
beginning of 2020, we had to put the 2019 Patron’s Award and the Award for Excellence and 

Inspiration on hold but towards the end of 2021, when restrictions were beginning to ease, we were 
delighted to be able to make our visits to the shortlisted almshouses. It is, therefore, with great 
pleasure that we can announce the 2019/20 recipients of these awards.  

THE ALMSHOUSE ASSOCIATION AWARDS

This award is for charities who can demonstrate unique innovations within a project 
that has added significant value to a resident’s life. This could apply to new builds,  

small extensions, or major refurbishment projects (but not cyclical maintenance such as new 
kitchens and bathrooms, etc.). Practical issues as well as innovation, uniqueness and use of  
new technologies are considered for this award. The charities who win this award show that 
careful thought has been given to future-proof their design solutions.

The Almshouse Association Award 
for Excellence and Inspiration 2019/20



Winnocks and Kendalls Almshouse 
Charity, Colchester, Essex

The Patron’s Award
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Coventry Church (Municipal) Charities, 
Bond’s Lodge, Coventry, West Midlands

A newly built three storey development offering 45 self-contained 
apartments together with a communal lounge, mobility scooter 
storage, laundry, guest room and courtyard garden.  

Building construction began in November 2018 and was completed  
in September 2020.

W.C. Lee’s Resthouses, Windlesham, Surrey
The project entailed the development of single storey 
side extensions to provide separate bedrooms for two 
of the almshouses, following demolition of two out-

buildings. The build took approximately twelve months from 
start to finish despite the delaying effects of the pandemic.

Hugh Sexey’s Hospital, 
Bruton, Somerset

The Blackford Room replaces a 
historic reception and a community 
room with a new light and airy space. 

It has been designed to meet the social and 
support needs of older people.  
The contemporary design uses traditional  
materials. Its styling ensures that the historic 
buildings remain the dominant feature.

The trustees of Winnocks and Kendalls Almshouse 
Charity made the decision to demolish nine  
bungalows endowed by George Rose in 1934 as the  
properties were no longer fit for purpose and had been 
empty for several years. The buildings were poorly laid 
out internally, had an inefficient heating system and had 
suffered damage through subsidence. In 2015 the  
charity received planning permission to replace the old 
bungalows with nine new, modern almshouses. 
The new almshouses are in keeping but not identical to the early twentieth-century almshouses adjacent and  
opposite, and so maintain the integrity, authenticity and pre-eminence of the listed terrace. 
Each apartment is light and airy with an open plan kitchen and living room. The kitchens are fully fitted and there 
is level access throughout the property. Wet rooms have been installed and allow for the use of a hoist should 
these become necessary for the residents. A new call system has been installed, which is not reliant on a landline 
phone system. Internal detailing throughout is ideal for almshouse accommodation.

Instituted by HRH The Prince of Wales and introduced in 2000 to encourage 
and celebrate excellence in architectural and living standards and to recognise 
outstanding projects and developments. Sponsored by the Charity Bank.

Patron’s Award Committee: 
S Pott FRICS (Chairman), A C Clague DIPArch RIBA, R Knipe, P Wilkinson FRICS, T Scouller



The project included seven single storey almshouses at  
an existing almshouse development with extensive 

external works and landscaping. Each property has an  
area of flower beds for the residents to maintain and enjoy.

During 2018/2019 substantial refurbishment of the almshouses was undertaken, with 
considerable care taken to ensure the character of the listed buildings was retained.  

The gardens and views are spectacular and allow a community spirit to thrive.

The trustees are fully aware of the benefits a 
garden can bring to residents and visitors. The city 

centre site provides a place of tranquillity and 
beauty. A living wall was installed which creates a green 
‘lung’ within the courtyard area and is much admired. 

Jesus Hospital, Ravenscroft Lodge,  
The London Borough of Barnet

The Eleanor Hirst Trust, Wilshaw, 
Holmfirth, West Yorkshire

Coventry Church (Municipal) Charities, 
Bond’s Lodge, Coventry, West Midlands

42 |  THE ALMSHOUSE ASSOCIATION ANNUAL REPORT 2021

Trustees turned an existing drab courtyard into a beautiful 
communal space. Ambitious plans were agreed to make 

the courtyard a better space for residents to relax and 
socialise, as well as promote physical health through exercise 
and mental wellbeing by taking a greater interest in gardening. 

Wivenhoe Housing Trust,  
Jonathan Feedham Court, Wivenhoe, Essex

This award is for charities that can show how they have enhanced the lives 
of their residents by providing gardening and/or outdoor activities. 

 
The community spirit these projects create has been particularly important during the pandemic 

and highlights the neighbourliness that almshouses embody. The projects showed a high degree of skill and 
dedication and a passion for their gardens and community spaces. We have no doubt they will continue to 
bring great joy and comfort to residents and staff alike.

The Gardens and People Award 2020
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ALMSHOUSE ASSOCIATION LOANS AND GRANTS

Henry Poad Trust in 
Cornwall utilised a 
grant and an interest 
free loan from 
The Almshouse  
Association to  
replace windows  
and chimneys in  
their Grade II listed  
properties. 

Finetta Hale Almshouse Charity in Suffolk completed 
some urgent repair works required on their four 

almshouses this year. The properties needed heating, 
roof repairs and new insulation fitted. They were able 

to complete 
this project 

using a grant 
and interest 

free loan from 
the Association.  

Elizabeth Stopford for 
Almshouses in Lancashire 

remodelled and refurbished 
four almshouses utilising a grant and loan from the Association. 

The properties are now modern and benefit from improved 
access which is ideal for residents with reduced mobility. 

2021 saw several applications to The Almshouse Association for both interest free loans and grants.  
Our members have continued to make improvements to their properties as well as investing in, and building 
of, new almshouse dwellings.  
In total, we approved £699,000 in interest free loans to 18 member charities (of which £494,932 was drawn 
down during the year) and £96,220 in grants to nine of our members. We awarded a total of £6,720 to  
charities in need from the Emergency Fund throughout 2021.

Henry Poad Trust, Liskeard, Cornwall
Finetta Hale Almshouse Charity, 

Bury St Edmunds

Shaftesbury Municipal  
Almshouse Charity, Shaftesbury  

Shaftesbury Municipal Almshouse 
Charity in Dorset undertook a large 
project, with the support of a loan, 
to extend and remodel 17 bedsits into 
one-bedroom flats and refurbish  
three bedsits. The Association is 
looking forward to further support  
the charity with their aspirations to 
build new almshouses in the future.

Elizabeth Stopford for 
Almshouses, Manchester

Annie Pahud Almshouses                      Lincolnshire         £12,500 
Finetta Hale Almshouse Charity            Suffolk                   £15,720 
Harrison’s Almshouse Charity               West Yorkshire     £10,000 
John Inns Charitable Trust                      Hertfordshire        £25,000 
Joseph Crossley Almshouses                West Yorkshire    £25,000 
Robert John Whitehead Almshouses   West Yorkshire      £3,000 
Samuel Bernard Frost Charity               Leicestershire        £3,000 
The Charlesworth Charity                       West Yorkshire      £8,000

Barnstaple Municipal Charity                           Devon                     £90,300  
Edgefield Cottage Trust                                      Norfolk                    £31,500 
Elizabeth Stopford for Almshouses                 Lancashire             £26,250  
Ellen’s Cottages                                                   Somerset                £31,500 
Finetta Hale Almshouse Charity                       Suffolk                    £31,500 
Harrison’s Almshouse Charity                           West Yorkshire     £52,500 
Heap-Parkinson Homes                                     North Yorkshire     £73,500 
Henry Poad Trust                                                 Cornwall                   £17,851 
Hezmalhalch’s Charity                                        North Yorkshire     £31,249 
Shaftesbury Municipal Almshouse Charity     Dorset                        £4,778 
Sir Francis Crossley’s Almshouse                    West Yorkshire      £23,128 
Sloswicke’s Almshouses                                   North Yorkshire    £54,626 
St John and St Anne                                           Rutland                  £26,250

Loans made 
by The Almshouse Association in 2021

Grants awarded 
by The Almshouse Association in 2021



Horton Almshouses (Northants) 
The Whitgift Foundation 
James Goodman Charity 
The Friendly Almshouses 
The Sheffield Firth Almshouses 
Burltons Cookes & Sayers Almshouse 
Hampton Cottages Charity 
Butterfield Homes 
The Dyers’ Almshouse Charity CIO 
The Charity Of Elizabeth Jane Jones 
Molyneux Almshouses 
The Richmond Charities Almshouses

DONATIONS,  SUPPORT AND SPONSORSHIP
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Grout Insurance Brokers 
Royal Sun Alliance 
Higos Insurance 
John Swire 1989 Charitable Trust 
Francis Winham Foundation 
PF Charitable Trust 
Weinstock Fund 
The Englefield Trust 
East Fitzwilliam Charitable Trust 
William Leech 
The Michael Cornish Charitable Trust 
The Oakdale Trust 
Goldman Sachs 
Albert Hunt Trust  
The Mercers Company 
Paul Bassham Charitable Trust 
Hadrian Trust 
The Anson Charitable Trust 
The Lady Hind Trust 
The Ganzoni Charitable Trust 
William A Cadbury Charitable Trust 
The Inchcape Foundation  
The Verdon-Smith Family Charitable Trust

Mr S Pott *  
Mr D Mander *  
Mr J Oram * 
Ms H Caffrey *  
Ms J Pannell *  
Mr A Robinson MBE *  
Reverend R James *  
Dr P Corry *  
J Crossley *  
Peter L Wyman * 

The Charity Bank - Patron’s Award 
CAF Bank         The Mercers Company        The Dunhill Medical Trust

The Trust Partnership; St John’s Winchester; The Great Hospital; Sir Josiah Mason Trust;  
Durham Aged Mineworkers Homes; Thomas Christie Almshouse Charity;  

CCLA Investment Management Ltd;  Hull United Charities; 
Charity Eminence; Spalding Town Husbands; The Makaton Charity;  

Queen Elizabeth’s Foundation for Disabled People;  
King’s College London; Royal College of Physicians;  

Mercers Company; National Institute of Health and Care Excellence.

Baron Price Almshouses 
Hester Clark’s Almshouses 
The Hospital Houses 
David Henry Waring Home 
Glover’s Trust 
Mann Memorial Cottages 
Newman Hall Homes 
Fletcher Charity 
Clare Witnell & Blount Charity 
Wyggestons Hospital 
Thomas Philipot’s Almshouse Charity 
Redbourn Charities, Chas Woollam 

It is with grateful thanks that we acknowledge our sponsors, donors and supporters. Without 
their generosity, we would not be able to support our members in the way that we do.  

We would also like to thank all the charities and companies that have supported 
our board by enabling them both time and capacity to dedicate to the leadership 

of The Almshouse Association:

Donations

Associate Members

Sponsorship

Member charity donations over £50

* Lifetime Association Member Mrs D Bernard JP  
Miss V Dawkins  
Ms H Jurga  
Mr N Beresford MA (Cantab.) 
Miss L Brooman  
Mr G Buggins MBE  
Mr B Moulding  
Miss S Davies  
Mr M Saunders  
Mrs D Hill  
Major General A Leask  
Mr & Mrs T Richards  
Mrs C Belloc-Lowndes  
Mrs V Scott  
Mrs S Gee  

Mrs H Greves  
Mr H Parker  
Mrs H Rishworth  
Mr R Watts  
Mr R Elliot  
Mrs I Cameron  
Mr R Hippisley Cox  
Mrs C Sharp  
Mr J Sims  
Mr R Field  
Mr E Fairbanks-Smith  
Ms M Tragner  
Mr P Hyde  
Mrs A Little  
Miss M Smith  

Miss S Lambert  
Dr W Bosley  
Mr M Bannar-Martin  
Ms C Crompton  
Miss L Edwards  
The Very Rev. T Barker  
Sir R Mann  
S Crittle  
T Benbow  
L O’Sullivan  
S Cole  
R Sweeney  
Mr D Chislett
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Further thanks go to all the almshouse charities’ staff and volunteers who have kindly 
shared their wonderful stories and photographs with the Association, allowing us to shine 
a light on the vitality and progressiveness of the almshouse movement today.

Nancy Grigg, King Edward VI 
Almshouses, Saffron Walden.

Anniversary cake cutting and tree planting at Perry Almshouses, Winterbourne, Bristol.

Unveiling a plaque to mark a conversion project at King’s Lynn General Charities.

above: Saqib Bhatti MP visits Davenport Almshouses, Solihull. 
below: Bakewell Almshouses, Derbyshire, receive a donation  
during the 75th anniversary celebration party.

Arthur Norfolk Trust, Stockport,  
Battersby Court defibrillator team.

Kathleen Gibbs 105th birthday at St Mary’s, Chichester.  
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PANEL OF CONSULTANTS

Architects
Atelier Architecture & Design Ltd 
Stephen Melvin RIBA 
HGI Honours Building 
72-80 Akeman Street 
Akeman Business Park 
Tring                                               
Hertfordshire HP23 6AF 
Tel: 01442 828201 
info@atelier-architects.co.uk 
www.atelier-architects.co.uk 
 

Bernard Taylor Partnership Ltd 
Architects   

Vicky Saunders                                      
Elizabeth House 
486 Didsbury Road 
Heaton Mersey, Stockport       
Cheshire SK4 3BS 
Tel: 0161 443 1221 
info@btparchitects.co.uk 
www.btparchitects.co.uk 
 
Brown Matthews Architects Ltd 
Steven Matthews BA Hons RIBA 
Oak Tree Design Studio 
Wolverton Road  
Snitterfield                                   
Stratford-upon-Avon                                
Warwick CV37 0HB 
Tel: 01789 730346 
steven@brownmatthews.co.uk 
www.brownmatthews.co.uk 

 
Clague LLP   
Pat Mills BA BArch (Hons) RIBA          

62 Burgate 
Canterbury                                   
Kent CT1 2BH 
Tel: 01227 762060 
patmills@clague.co.uk 
www.clague.co.uk 
 
Crickmay Stark Architects 
Daniel Cantrell RIBA  
13-14 Princes Street 
Dorchester                                           
Dorset DT1 1TW 
Tel: 01305 262636 
info@crickmaystark.co.uk 
www.crickmaystark.co.uk 
 

Guy St John Taylor Associates  
Chartered Architects   

Keith Rodgers     
Top Lock Studio                             
Navigation Yard, Millgate 
Newark, Nottinghamshire NG24 4TN 
Tel: 01636 605100 
keith@guytaylorassociates.co.uk 
www.guytaylorassociates.co.uk 
 
Halliday Clark Architects 
Adam Clark  
   BA (Hons) Dip.Arch RIBA SCA FRSA 
The Point 
1 Lower Railway Road 
Ilkley LS29 8FL 
Tel: 01943 604123 
info@hallidayclark.co.uk 
www.hallidayclark.co.uk 
 
Hudson Architects 
Sandra Muller 
37 St Andrews Street 
Norwich NR2 4TP 
Tel: 01603 766220 
sandra@hudsonarchitects.co.uk 
www.hudsonarchitects.co.uk 
 
John Potter Architect Limited 
Simon J Potter RIBA 
Unit 2, Bewick House 
Horsley Business Centre              
Horsley 
Northumberland NE15 0NY 
Tel: 01661 853345 
architects@johnpotterarchitect.com 
www.johnpotterarchitect.com 
 
Mackellar Schwerdt LLP 
Andrew Goodwin 
   BA DipArch RIBA MaPS 
The Old Library, Albion Street 
Lewes, E Sussex BN7 2ND 
Tel: 01273 480608 
info@mackellarschwerdt.co.uk 
www.mackellarschwerdt.co.uk 

 
MEPK Architects   
Simon Cottingham    

Studio 35, 10 Hornsey Street 
London N7 8EL                            
Tel: 0207 700 2736  
simon.cottingham@mepk.co.uk 
www.mepk.co.uk 

Overton Architects 
Michael J Overton RIBA 
IDC Valley Drive 
Ilkley                                                       
West Yorks LS29 8AL 
Tel: 01943 601785 
mike@overtonarchitects.co.uk 
www.overtonarchitects.co.uk 
 

Pellings LLP   
Terry Hardy   

24 Widmore Road                       
Bromley 
Kent BR1 1RY 
Tel: 0208 460 9114 
thardy@pellings.co.uk 
www.pellings.co.uk 
 
Pickles Architects 
G Pickles RIBA 
16A Church Lane 
Brighouse                                        
W. Yorks HD6 1AT 
Tel: 01484 712386 
mail@picklesarchitects.co.uk 

 
Purcell Architecture Limited   
Adam Edwards RIBA                

St Mary’s Hall, Rawstorn Road 
Colchester 
Essex CO3 3JH                                         
Tel: 01206 244844 
adam.edwards@purcelluk.com 
www.purcelluk.com 
 
Rockliffe:Williams Architects Ltd 
Oliver Golding/Paul Williams/ 
James Lunn-Rockliffe 
47 Southgate Street 
Winchester SO23 9EH 
Tel: 01962 626241 
office@rockliffewilliams.co.uk 
www.rockliffewilliams.co.uk 
 
Scorer Hawkins Architects 
Jonathan Capek 
   BSc (Hons) MArch ARB RIBA 
Lodge Farm Barns 
Skendleby 
Spilsby 
Lincolnshire PE23 4QF 
Tel: 01754 890089 
jonathan@scorerhawkins.co.uk 
www.scorerhawkins.co.uk 

indicates Patron’s Award recipient

The Almshouse Association’s Panel of Consultants* offer professional advice and services to our members. 
Each panel member has worked with, and been recommended by, one of our member charities.
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The Whitworth Co-Partnership LLP 
Mark Cleveland BSc BArch RIBA 
18 Hatter Street 
Bury St Edmunds                                
Suffolk IP33 1NE 
Tel: 01284 760421 
mcleveland@whitworth.co.uk 
www.wcp-architects.com 
 
Trewin Design Partnership 
David Tithecott MRICS FCABE 
1 Stanhope Square 
Holsworthy                         
Devon EX22 6DR 
Tel: 01409 253013 
david.tithecott@trewin-design.co.uk 
www.trewin-design.co.uk 
 
Tuffin Ferraby Taylor LLP 
Jacqui Allen BA Hons BSc Hons MRICS 
Tempus Court, Onslow Street 
Guildford 
Surrey GU1 4SS 
Tel: 0203 479 7691 
jallen@tftconsultants.com 
www.tftconsultants.com 
 
Waite & Wallace Architects Ltd 
Richard Waite DipArch RIBA AABC 
34 Bridge Street 
King’s Lynn                                           
Norfolk PE30 5AB 
Tel: 01553 772656 
architect@rcfwaite.co.uk 
www.rcfwaite.co.uk 
 
Warburton Associates 
Design & Management Ltd 
Richard Ward 
The Old Police Station 
62 Chapel Street, Salford                                               
Manchester M3 7AA 
Tel: 0161 833 9345 
rich@warburtonassociates.com  
www.warburtonassociates.com 
 
WhiteleyEaves Ltd - Property and 
Construction Consultants 
David Whiteley 
Hollinwood Business Centre 
Albert Street 
Oldham OL8 3QL 
Tel: 0161 393 8417  
david@whiteleyeaves.co.uk 
www.whiteleyeaves.co.uk 

Andrew Granger & Co. Ltd 
Andrew Robinson 
   BSc Hons FRICS MARLA ICIOB 
Attenborough House 
10-12 Rutland Street 
Leicester                                                     
Leicestershire LE1 1RD 
Tel: 0116 242 9933 
professionalservices 
   @andrewgranger.co.uk 
www.andrewgranger.co.uk 
 
Bare Leaning & Bare (Swindon) 
Andrew Whiting FRICS MCI Arb 
39 Bath Road 
Old Town 
Swindon                                                 
Wilts SN1 4AS 
Tel: 01793 521337 
admin@blbswindon.co.uk 
www.blbswindon.co.uk 
 

Basnett Associates Ltd   
Richard Basnett BSc (Hons) FRICS 

Rose Farm, Stockwell Lane 
Woodmancote  
Cheltenham                                     
Glos GL52 9QE 
Tel: 01242 673888 
info@basnettassociates.com 
www.basnettassociates.com 
 
David G Horner Ltd  
Chartered Surveyors 
James Horner MRICS 
Office 39, RCM Business Centre 
Dewsbury Road, Ossett  
West Yorkshire WF5 9JL 
Tel: 01924 275275 
james@davidghorner.co.uk 
www.davidghorner.co.uk 
 
Fifield Glyn Limited 
Charles Fifield 
11 St George Street, Mayfair 
London W1S 2FD 
Tel: 0207 629 6457 
Charles.fifield@fifieldglyn.com 
www.fifieldglyn.com 
 

J A Warner Ltd 
David M Jarrett MRICS 
The Joiners Shop 
The Historic Dockyard 
Chatham                                      
Kent ME4 4TZ 
Tel: 01634 844767  
david@jawarner.co.uk 
www.jawarner.co.uk 
 
LHL Group Ltd 
Richard J Hampshire FRIC FB Eng 
Stanley Harrison House 
Bishopthorpe Road,  
York YO23 1DE                                     
Tel: 01904 690699 
richard.hampshire 
   @lhlgroup.co.uk 
www.lhlgroup.co.uk 
 
Murray Birrell Limited 
Peter Wade Dip Bld Surv FRICS 
Mortimer House 
40 Chatsworth Parade, Queensway                    
Petts Wood, Kent BR5 1DE 
Tel: 01689 898288 
peter.wade@murraybirrell.co.uk 
www.murraybirrell.co.uk 
 
Quinquennial Inspections Limited 
Tim J Richardson  
   MCIAT MCIOB MSAI MRICS 
51 Derwent Road, Ten Acres 
Stirchley                                                             
Birmingham B30 2UY 
Tel: 0121 471 1478 
tim@timothyrichardson.co.uk 
www.quinquennialinspections.co.uk 
 
Robinson & Hall LLP 
Robert Franklin 
118 Bromham Road 
Bedford MK20 2QN 
Tel: 01234 362917 
Mob: 07976 256586 
rjf@robinsonandhall.co.uk 
www.robinsonandhall.co.uk 
 

Pellings LLP 
Terry Hardy MRICS MCABE 

24 Widmore Road 
Bromley, Kent BR1 1RY 
Tel: 020 8460 9114 
thardy@pellings.co.uk 
www.pellings.co.uk 

Building 
Surveyors



48 |  THE ALMSHOUSE ASSOCIATION ANNUAL REPORT 2021

Saffer Cooper Consultancy 
Sean Stafford BSc Hons MRICS 
Office 206, Ashton Old Baths 
Stamford Street West 
Ashton-under-Lyne OL6 7FW 
Tel: 0161 804 2222  
sean@saffercooper.com 
www.saffercooper.co.uk 
 
Sidleys Chartered Surveyors 
Fiona Caldwell 
6 King Edward Street 
Oxford OX1 4JL                             
Tel: 07516 505695 / 01865 726016 
fionacaldwell@sidleys.co.uk 
www.sidleys.co.uk 
 
T M A Chartered Surveyors 
Tim C Matthews BSc Hons FRICS 
The Gatehouse 
116-118 Rainsford Road 
Chelmsford                                     
Essex CM1 2QL 
Tel: 01245 210060 
tim@tmasurveys.co.uk 
www.tmasurveys.co.uk 
 
Tuffin Ferraby Taylor LLP 
Jacqui Allen BA Hons Bsc Hons MRICS 
Tempus Court, Onslow Street 
Guildford, Surrey GU1 4SS                            
Tel: 0203 479 7691 
jallen@tftconsultants.com 
www.tftconsultants.com 
 
WhiteleyEaves Ltd - Property and 
Construction Consultants 
David Whiteley 
Hollinwood Business Centre 
Albert Street, Oldham OL8 3QL 
Tel: 0161 393 8417  
david@whiteleyeaves.co.uk 
www.whiteleyeaves.co.uk

Nottingham Community 
Housing Association Ltd   

Gemma De Brito 
12-14 Pelham Road 
Sherwood Rise,  
Nottingham NG5 1AP                         
Tel: 0115 844 3022 
Almshouses@ncha.org.uk 
www.ncha.org.uk 
 
Quinquennial Inspections Limited 
Louise Richardson 
51 Derwent Road, Ten Acres 
Stirchley                                         
Birmingham B30 2UY 
Tel: 0121 471 1478 
louise@timothyrichardson.co.uk 
quinquennialinspections.co.uk 
 
Saffer Cooper Consultancy 
Sean Stafford BSc Hons MRICS 
Office 206, Ashton Old Baths                      
Stamford Street West 
Ashton-under-Lyne OL6 7FW 
Tel: 0161 804 2222 
sean@saffercooper.com 
www.saffercooper.co.uk 
 
WhiteleyEaves Ltd - Property and 
Construction Consultants 
David Whiteley 
Hollinwood Business Centre 
Albert Street, Oldham OL8 3QL 
Tel: 0161 393 8417  
david@whiteleyeaves.co.uk 
www.whiteleyeaves.co.uk 
 
Millard Consultants  
Clerkship Advice & Consultancy  
Jennifer Millard 
Chartered Surveyor/Director  
The Beeches, 9 Ely Road 
Little Downham, Ely 
Cambridgeshire CB6 2SN  
Tel: 07851 153016 / 01353 699403 
jennifer@millardconsultants.com  
www.Millardconsultants.com

Project Managers, Development and  
Managing Agents, Consultancy
Andrew Granger & Co. Ltd 
Andrew Robinson 
   BSc Hons FRICS MARLA ICIOB 
Attenborough House 
10-12 Rutland Street 
Leicester LE1 1RD 
Tel: 0116 242 9933 
professionalservices 
   @andrewgranger.co.uk 
www.andrewgranger.co.uk 
 
Durham Aged Mineworkers’ 
Homes Association 
Paul Mullis 
PO Box 31, The Grove 
168 Front Street,  
Chester-le-Street                             
Co. Durham DH3 3YH 
Tel: 0191 388 1111 
info@damha.org.uk 
www.damha.org.uk  
 
Fifield Glyn Limited 
Charles Fifield 
11 St George Street, Mayfair 
London W1S 2FD 
Tel: 0207 629 6457 
Charles.fifield@fifieldglyn.com 
www.fifieldglyn.com 
 
Kathy Green MRICS 
7 Middle Rank 
Bradford-on-Avon                            
Wiltshire BA15 1NL 
Tel: 01225 865573 
kathy.green.projects@gmail.com 

Chartered Architectural Technologists
Guymer Architectural 
Richard Guymer MCIAT ACIOB 
32 Orchard Road                                   
Skidby, Cottingham 
East Yorks HU16 5TN 
Tel: 01482 848222 
richard@guymerarchitectural.co.uk 
www.guymerarchitectural.co.uk 

Quinquennial Inspections Limited 
Louise Richardson 
51 Derwent Road, Ten Acres 
Stirchley                                         
Birmingham B30 2UY 
Tel: 0121 471 1478 
louise@timothyrichardson.co.uk 
quinquennialinspections.co.uk

PANEL OF CONSULTANTS
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Bates Wells LLP 
Simon Steeden 
10 Queen Street Place 
London EC4R 1BE                            
Tel: 0207 551 7624 
s.steeden@bateswells.co.uk 
www.bateswells.co.uk 
 
Blandy & Blandy LLP 
Nick Burrows 
1 Friar Street 
Reading 
Berks RG1 1DA 
Tel: 0118 951 6851 
nick.burrows@blandy.co.uk 
www.blandy.co.uk 
 
Brachers LLP 
Sarah Webster 
Somerfield House                          
59 London Road 
Maidstone 
Kent ME16 8JH 
Tel: 01622 690691 
info@brachers.co.uk 
 
Clifton Ingram LLP Solicitors 
Ian Graham 
22-24 Broad Street 
Wokingham 
Berkshire RG40 1BA 
Tel: 0118 978 0099 
iangraham@cliftoningram.co.uk 
www.cliftoningram.co.uk 
 

Furley Page LLP 
Aaron Spencer 
39 St Margaret’s Street 
Canterbury 
Kent CT1 2TX 
Tel: 01227 863136 
naa@furleypage.co.uk 
www.furleypage.co.uk 
 
Gullands Solicitors 
Philip Grylls  
16 Mill Street 
Maidstone 
Kent ME15 6XT 
Tel: 01622 689700 
p.grylls@gullands.com 
www.gullands.com 
 
HCR Law 
Virginia Henley 
Elgin House 
Billing Road 
Northampton NN1 5AU                               
Tel: 01604 463345 
vhenley@hcrlaw.com 
www.hcrlaw.com 
 
Lester Aldridge LLP 
Mr G Trobridge 
Russell House 
Oxford Road                            
Bournemouth 
Dorset BH8 8EX 
Tel: 01202 786138 
geoff.trobridge@la-law.com 
www.lesteraldridge.com 
 
Moore Barlow Solicitors 
Gordon Reid 
The Oriel 
Sydenham Road                           
Guildford 
Surrey GU1 3SR 
Tel: 01483 464224 
gordon.reid@moorebarlow.com  
www.moorebarlow.com 
 
Nelsons Solicitors Limited 
Richard Grosberg TEP 
Pennine House                                     
8 Stanford Street 
Nottingham NG1 7BQ 
Tel: 0115 989 5219  
richard.grosberg@nelsonslaw.co.uk 
www.nelsonslaw.co.uk 

O’Neill Richmonds Law Firm Limited 
Christine Lowes BA 
1-2 Lansdowne Terrace East 
Gosforth 
Newcastle-upon-Tyne NE3 1HL 
Tel: 0191 246 4000 
info@oneill-law.com 
www.oneill-law.com 
 
Rollits LLP 
Gerry Morrison 
Citadel House                                         
58 High Street 
Hull 
East Yorks HU1 1QE 
Tel: 01482 337339 
gerry.morrison@rollits.com 
www.rollits.com 
 
Stone King LLP 
Tim Rutherford 
13 Queen Square 
Bath                                                             
Somerset BA1 2HJ 
Tel: 01225 326776 (Bath office) 
Tel: 0207 7324 1558 (London office) 
timrutherford@stoneking.co.uk 
www.stoneking.co.uk 
  
Third Sector Law Ltd 
Alison Maclennan 
240 Shinfield Road 
Reading, Berks RG2 8EX 
Tel: 0845 557 7919 
a.maclennan@thirdsectorlaw.co.uk 
www.thirdsectorlaw.co.uk 
                                            
Wrigleys Solicitors LLP 
Mr M Lynch 
17-21 Cookridge Street 
Leeds LS2 3AG                                                      
Tel: 0113 204 5724 
malcolm.lynch@wrigleys.co.uk 
www.wrigleys.co.uk

Legal 
Practices
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Quantity 
Surveyors
Bare Leaning & Bare (Swindon) 
Andrew Whiting FRICS MCI Arb 
39 Bath Road 
Old Town 
Swindon, Wilts SN1 4AS 
Tel: 01793 521337 
admin@blbswindon.co.uk 
www.blbswindon.co.uk 

Pellings LLP 
Terry Hardy 

24 Widmore Road 
Bromley, Kent BR1 1RY 
Tel: 020 8460 9114 
thardy@pellings.co.uk 
www.pellings.co.uk 

WhiteleyEaves Ltd - Property and 
Construction Consultants 
David Whiteley 
Hollinwood Business Centre,  
Albert Street, Oldham OL8 3QL 
Tel: 0161 393 8417  
david@whiteleyeaves.co.uk 
www.whiteleyeaves.co.uk

Health and Safety 
Consultancy
Fire Safety Consultancy (FSC) 
Harry Paviour M I Fire Eng FIIRSM. 
   Dip SM M.Ed. Pg. Dip Ed 
8 Ingledene Close 
Gosport 
Hants PO12 3TY 
Tel: 02392 502337 
harry.paviour@btinternet.com 

Quinquennial Inspections Ltd 
Louise Richardson 

51 Derwent Road, Ten Acres 

Stirchley                                        

Birmingham B30 2UY 

Tel: 0121 471 1478 

louise@timothyrichardson.co.uk 

quinquennialinspections.co.uk

VAT Services
Charities VAT Services 
Glenn Havenhand 
Highfields 
11 Pinchwell View 
Wickersley  
Rotherham S66 1FP 
Tel: 01709 709727 
glenn.havenhand3 
   @btopenworld.com

Charity 
Recruitment
Charisma Charity Recruitment 
Jenny Warner Hon FIRP 
Southgate Chambers 
37-39 Southgate Street 
Winchester 
Hampshire SO23 9EH 
Tel: 01962 813300 (Winchester) 
Tel: 0207 998 8888 (London) 
jenny@charismarecruitment.co.uk 
www.charismarecruitment.co.uk

Alarm and 
Monitoring Services
Lifeline 24 
Mark Law 
11 Robberds Way 
Norwich NR5 9JF 
Tel: 01603 964306 
mark.law@lifeline24.co.uk 
www.lifeline24.co.uk 

Integral Safety Ltd 
John Lewis 
Managing Director/Consultant/ 
Health and Safety Consultancy 
and Trainer 
53 John Cooper Way 
Coalville 
Leicestershire LE67 4AP 
Tel: 01530 382150  
Mob: 07554 917949 
info@integralsafetyltd.co.uk 
www.integralsafetyltd.co.uk 

PANEL OF CONSULTANTS

* The Almshouse Association makes every effort to ensure that the details of the Panel are accurate and up-to-date.
It is important that members satisfy themselves that the services, qualifications and relevant membership of
professional bodies meet their particular needs.

TRI Fire Safety Consultants Ltd 
Robert Deeks
30 Waverley Crescent, Romsley, 
West Midlands, B62 0NZ
T: 07895 877001 E: 
fireriskassessing@gmail.com 
www.tripeople.com

Access  
Consultant
Tuffin Ferraby Taylor LLP 
Jaqui Allen BA Hons BSc Hons MRICS 
Tempus Court, Onslow Street 
Guildford 
Surrey GU1 4SS 
Tel: 0203 479 7691 
jallen@tftconsultants.com 
www.tftconsultants.com

Chartered 
Accountants
Knox Cropper LLP 
James Holland-Leader 
Office Suite 1 
Haslemere House, Lower Street 
Haslemere  
Surrey GU27 2PE 
Tel: 01428 652788 
James.hollandleader 
   @knoxcropper.com 
www.knoxcropper.com

Human 
Resources
Argonaut Human Resources Limited 
Adrian Nisbet BA/MA 
Beech House, Dodsley Grove 
Easebourne 
West Sussex GU29 9BE 
Tel: 01730 810970 
adrian.nisbet@argonaut-hr.com 
www.argonaut-hr.com 

Employment Law in Action Ltd 
Ros Hammond 
4 Pocketts Yard, High Street  
Cookham 
Berks SL6 9SL 
Tel: 01494 817193 
ros@eliaction.com 
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The Legal 500

"Blandy & Blandy
attracts praise for
its excellent industry
knowledge."

We are highly experienced 
in advising national and local 
charities and proud to count 
The Almshouse Association 
and a number of almshouse 
charities among our clients.

INSURANCE FOR MEMBERS 
OF THE ALMSHOUSE ASSOCIATION

Almshouse charities, who are in the membership of 
The Almshouse Association, should be aware of the 
availability of two tailor-made insurance policies that 
are available to member charities through the Insurance 
Brokers detailed below. Members wishing to obtain 
further information or a quotation are required to contact 
the Insurance Brokers directly.

IMPORTANT: It is the responsibility of trustees to decide 
whether these policies or other products meet their needs. 
Trustees should also consider the need for personal 
contents insurance when detailing their requirements.

GROUT INSURANCE 
BROKERS LIMITED 
Woolwich House 
2nd floor 
43 George Street 
Croydon CR10 1LB 
 
tel: 020 8686 1708 
info@groutinsure.co.uk 
www.groutinsure.co.uk 
 
see page 55 for details 

HIGOS INSURANCE 
SERVICES LIMITED 
7 Cary Court 
Somerton Business Park 
Bancombe Road, Somerton 
Somerset TA11 6SB 
 
tel: 01458 675553 
almshouses.portfolio@ 
                             higos.co.uk 
www.Higos.co.uk 
see page 57 for details 
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NCHA has been providing support 
to almshouse charities in the East 
Midlands for more than 25 years. 

0345 650 1203

www.ncha.org.uk/find-a-home/almshouses

Gemma.DeBrito@ncha.org.uk

NCHA 
12/14 Pelham Road, 
Sherwood Rise, 
Nottingham 
NG5 1AP

The services we provide include:
• Housing management, maintenance, and  
 development, either as part of a management   
 contract or by taking on sole corporate  
 trusteeship of a charity.

• Advice on the modernisation of trusts.

• Maintenance planning and budgetary control.

• Negotiation with the Charity Commission on the   
 approval of revised schemes.

• Design and architectural services.

• Procuring funding from local authorities,  
 Homes England (formerly the Homes and    
 Communities Agency), and English Heritage.

NCHA is the sole corporate trustee of the  
Nottingham Community Almshouse Charity, which was 
established in 2009 by the merger of a number of charities 
(whilst retaining the individual preferences for each charity’s 
properties). It now totals 165 homes.

If you’d like to talk to us about how we could help 
your charity, please get in touch. 
Contact Gemma DeBrito, Head of Homes and Wellbeing on: 

Nottingham Community Housing Association Limited is a charitable 
community benefit society, registered with the Financial Conduct Authority 
under number 7104.

We are committed to preserving the legacies of the past and providing homes for the future.
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• Quinquennial Inspections   • Feasibility Studies 
• Planning & Listed Building Applications   • Contract Administration

The Sir Roger Manwood Trust, Canterbury

3 x Winner of The Patron’s Award

01227 762060  |  www.clague.co.uk  |  georgeesdaile@clague.co.uk

Legal support  
for almshouses

Knowledge. Experience. Results.

We act for a number of almshouses in Kent. 

We can help modernise the management  

of the charity and advise trustees on the 

standards of almshouse management.

Contact Aaron Spencer  

on 01227 763939 

email aas@furleypage.co.uk 

or visit furleypage.co.uk 

To see how we can help you: 

Canterbury  

Chatham  

Whitstable
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Bath
Birmingham
Bristol
Cambridge
Leeds
London

If you would like to discuss how we may be able to assist with your needs then 

please contact Tim Rutherford, Partner, who heads our specialist almshouse 

team on 07580 979376 or by email at timrutherford@stoneking.co.uk

stoneking.co.uk

Stone King has a long history of working with many  

well-established Almshouses across the country. 

 

We have a deep knowledge of the sector and are well-versed 

in dealing with all aspects of legal advice, including governance 

issues, property and contractual matters, mergers, incorporations, 

legacy issues and all the day-to-day dealings you may encounter.

As national leaders in the Charity and Social Enterprise 昀eld, 

our commitment to the sector means we are able to provide a 

comprehensive, ef昀cient and value-for-money service to meet 

your unique needs.

Almshouse Association (Charity) SK21-01  V2.indd   1 03/02/2021   18:12:15

PO Box 31  
The Grove, 168 Front Street
Chester-le-Street
County Durham
DH3 3YH

A proud member of the Almshouse Association

Providing homes in coalfield 
communities since 1898

Visit: www.damha.org.uk     
Email: info@damha.org.uk

Telephone: 0191 3881111 

DAMHA Ad 185x130mm MARCH 21 AW.indd   1 15/03/2021   14:26
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�he poli�� in�lu�e�: 


























For a quotation or further information telephone: 
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16 Mill Street, Maidstone, Kent, ME15 6XT  Tel: 01622 689700 ∣ Whitehall Place, 47 The Terrace, Gravesend, Kent, DA12 2DL  Tel: 01474 887688

www.gullands.com

Gullands Solicitors
Philip Grylls, head of our dispute resolution team, has extensive 

experience acting for Charity Trustees and advising on issues such 
as the setting aside of resident’s appointments. He successfully 

represented Trustees in the important Court of Appeal authority 
on the status of Almshouse residents on behalf of the Ashtead 

United Charity (Watts v Stewart and Others).

 A full service law 昀rm working with Almshouse charities

N714 Gullands Almshouse Ad_PRINT.indd   1 28/01/2021   10:40

Valuations:
Charities Act Valuations

Insurance Valuations

Property Management:
Property Management

Asset Management & Strategy
Health & Safety Reports

Building Services:
Building Surveys

Project Management
Quinquennial reports

Please contact: -
edward.fifield@fifieldglyn.com

020 8731 5881
www.fifieldglyn.com

LONDON, MANCHESTER & CHESHIRE
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®

Higos Insurance Services Ltd is part of Global Risk Partners 
Limited. Higos Insurance Services Ltd is authorised and regulated 
by the Financial Conduct Authority (FRN 302690)

W E  L O V E  D I F F E R E N T  /  H I G O S . C O . U K

Call us 01458 675525
For independent advice or a quotation

Email us
almshouses.portfolio@higos.co.uk

Give Higos the chance to beat your renewal or new quote price. Get a quote today.

Equipment Breakdown Insurance                     

(Including cover for lifts, boilers and air conditioning systems)

Legal Expenses

Risk Management Survey & Rebuild Valuation 
Service ( For Qualifying Risks)

Trustee Indemnity Insurance

Business interruption

Buildings & Trustees Contents

Fidelity Guarantee Cover

Low Policy Excess (From £100)

Public and Employers Liability

Residents Temporary Accommodation

Additional optional covers include:
Additional optional covers available, including residents contents and more.

For Almshouse 
insurance, 
it has to be Higos 

At Higos, there’s nothing we love more than finding the right insurance. That’s why we have 
put together a friendly, independent expert and specialist Almshouses team. They will take 
the time to listen and find the correct insurance cover you need.

If the unexpected should happen, we have a friendly in house claims team ready to provide a 
prompt and personal service.

Bespoke Insurance that’s 100% tailored for Almshouses.

Our Almshouse insurance includes:

Rated excellent on Trustpilot
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01604 463 345  |  vhenley@hcrlaw.com
www.hcrlaw.com
Harrison Clark Rickerbys Ltd is authorised and regulated by the SRA

“Whether you are dealing with a governance problem, policy review, commercial contract, 
dispute with a licensee or just need advice for your charity, our team of award-winning 
solicitors can provide a tailored service which is right for you.

“

Virginia Henley, Partner, Head of Charities

A PASSION
FOR PEOPLE

Enquiries to Derek Ching 
dching@boyesturner.com
boyesturner.com

Legal expertise
for charities
We have a long track record of  
providing legal advice for chari琀es 
and o昀er a broad range of legal  
support including... 

 Governance issues and trustee 
	 powers	and	du琀es
 Property and land development, 
	 planning	and	construc琀on
 Grant funding and bank lending
 Employment
	 Dispute	resolu琀on
 Commercial and technology

m20199 BT Almshouse ad aw.indd   1 03/02/2022   07:36
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 FOR THOSE WITH MORE  
TO CARE FOR

We understand that Charities and Foundations must  
balance their income requirements with the need to 
grow endowments and reserves over the long term. 
That’s why M&G Charity Multi Asset Fund offers a 
diversified, multi-asset portfolio, built to target both 
long-term returns, and a strong regular income  
stream where this is required.

For information, please email charities@mandg.co.uk

Website: www.mandg.com/charities

The value and income from a fund’s assets will go  
down as well as up. This will cause the value  
of your investment to fall as well as rise  
and you may get back less than you  
originally invested.

M&G CHARITY MULTI ASSET FUND

This Financial Promotion is issued by M&G Securities Limited. Registered in England and Wales. Registered number 90776. Registered office is 10 Fenchurch Avenue, London 
EC3M 5AG. Authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority in the UK. M&G Charity Multi Asset Fund’s charity registered number is 1184314. MAR 22 / 688703

LET’S CREATE

688703 M&GINV Charities CMAF Ad 297x210 Almshouses Annual Report ENDINV 03-22.indd   1 02/03/2022   14:26
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Registered Office: The Charity Bank Limited, Fosse House, 182 High Street, Tonbridge, TN9 1BE. 
Company registered in England and Wales No. 4330018. Authorised by the Prudential Regulation 
Authority and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority and the Prudential Regulation Authority. 
Financial Services Register No. 207701.

Specialist lender to
charities and almshouses

Talk us through what you need:
T: 01732 441919
W: www.charitybank.org

• Expert lender to charities and almshouses

• We’ve continued to lend throughout the 
Coronavirus pandemic when many other 
lenders restricted their lending

• Loans can be used to renovate or 
modernise almshouses, buy or build a new 
property

• 98% of our customers would recommend us 
(Charity Bank Borrower Survey 2021)

“Charity Bank gave our Board of Trustees an immediate confidence in their 
knowledge of almshouses, how we work, our structure and our needs.”
- Matthew White, CEO and Clerk, Coventry Church Municipal Charities
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Charity Bank: a bank for good

Photo of Charity Bank borrower DENS

Advertisement feature



What has become known as ESG is second nature to us. 
We have been investing ethically and responsibly for more 
than half a century. Let’s work together for a better world.

ccla.co.uk

Image courtesy of Koestler Arts. A Break from the World, HM Young Off ender Institution Aylesbury.
CCLA Investment Management Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority.

Not just ESG… 
a whole world 
of responsibility

CCLA World of responsibility advert A4_CMYK.indd   1 07/02/2022   20:50
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     David Healey                   Margaret Stewart               Richard Knipe               

“Almshouses are about providing warmth, security and 
friendship. The Almshouse Association exists to protect 
this wonderful legacy and to support our members to 
continue their vital work.”

The Almshouse Association is a support charity representing over 1,600 independent 
almshouse charities throughout the UK

support and guidance 
grants and loans for member charities 
representation to government and 
local authorities 
guidance manuals, model policies and 
templates 
quarterly newsletter and e-bulletins

training, seminars, webinars and 
online courses 
website and members forum 
panel of consultants 
charity health checks 
recognition through awards 
regional representatives

Established in 1946, the Association provides a host of services to member charities to 
help them run and manage their almshouses effectively, support their residents and  
protect the almshouse legacy for future generations

The Almshouses Association 
Billingbear Lodge, Maidenhead Road, Wokingham, Berkshire RG40 5RU 
tel: 01344 452922     almshouses.org     almshousesupport@almshouses.org

Nick Phillips CEO; Nick Corke, Mills Charity; Theresa May MP; Karren Piper, Mills Charity; Elizabeth Fathi, Chair; Simon Pott, Awards Committee Chair.

The Almshouse Association services include:

Registered Charity No. 245668 Registered Company No. 04678214

#SupportAlmshouses

Nick Phillips |  CEO |  The Almshouse Association

The Almshouse Association 2022 Board of Trustees




